Agenda
For enquiries on this agenda, please contact:
Henry Yellop, Email: henry.yellop@kingston.gov.uk
Tel: 0208 547 5846
Published on 9 March 2021

Culture, Housing, Environment and
Planning Committee (CHEP)
Date:

Wednesday 17 March 2021

Time:

7:30 pm

Place:

Online meeting that can be viewed online here:
https://www.youtube.com/c/kingstoncouncil/videos?
view=2&live_view=502
Members of the Committee
*Co-Chair: Councillor Emily Davey
Co-Chair: Councillor Hilary Gander
Co-Chair: Councillor Rebekah Moll

Councillor Ian George, Councillor Liz Green, Councillor Lesley Heap, Councillor
Jason Hughes, Councillor Thay Thayalan, Councillor Olly Wehring, Councillor
Yogan Yoganathan and Councillor Sharon Young
*Chairing this Committee.

This meeting is being broadcast live
This agenda is available to view on: www.kingston.gov.uk
You can also access this agenda through the Modern.gov app or by scanning the QR
code with your smartphone.

2

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Declarations of interest
Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary interests and any
non-pecuniary (personal interests) relevant to items on the agenda.

3.

Petitions
To receive petitions submitted by Councillors or members of the public who live,
work or study in the Borough. The petition must contain at least 20 signatures and
notice of the intention to submit the petition must be given in writing
to democratic.services@kingston.gov.uk by 10am the day before the meeting.

4.

Public questions
A period of up to 30 minutes during which any resident of the Borough or
representative of organisations operating within the Borough (other than members
of the Council) may ask questions on matters relevant to the Committee. (Please
see Welcome Information sheet overleaf.) Questions must be submitted in writing
to democratic.services@kingston.gov.uk by 10am on the working day prior to the
meeting (Tuesday 16 March 2021)

5.

Minutes
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 11
February 2020.

6.

Article 4 Direction for Seething Wells Filter Beds
Appendix A
To review the representations received following the recent public consultation on
the making of an immediate Article 4 Direction on land at Seething Wells Filter
Beds to remove nationally permitted development rights for the erection,
construction, maintenance, improvement or alteration of a gate, fence, wall or other
means of enclosure and to determine whether or not to confirm the Direction.

7.

Further Engagement on the Local Plan
Appendix B
To agree to a revised Local Development Scheme, and the approach to
engagement for the next phase of the Local Plan.

8.

LIP Programme 21/22
Appendix C
To approve the proposed schemes for inclusion in the 2021/22 Local
Implementation Plan (LIP) programme, subject to confirmation from Transport for
London (TfL).

9.

10.

Planned Highway and Street Lighting Capital Programme
Appendix D
2021/22
To detail highway (carriageway, footway and street lighting) planned maintenance
works carried out during 202/21 and present a proposed planned highway and
street lighting maintenance programme for 2021/22.
Urgent items authorised by the Chair
To consider any items which, in the view of the Chair, should be dealt with as a
matter of urgency because of special circumstances in accordance with S100B(4)
of the Local Government Act 1972.

3
11.

Exclusion of the Press and Public
The following resolution is included as a standard item which will only be relevant if
any exempt matter is to be considered at the meeting for which the Committee wish
to resolve to exclude the press and public:
To exclude the public from the meeting under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it is likely that exempt information, as
defined in paragraph *….of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act, would be disclosed
and the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information.
(*relevant regulatory paragraph to be indicated)

Welcome to this meeting
Notice of Webcast
This meeting is being broadcast live and will be publicly available on the Council’s website.
It may also be used by the Council for training purposes. By publicly speaking at the
meeting, you are consenting to being recorded and for the recording being used for these
purposes.
Information about the Committee
The Committee is made up of your local elected councillors. As one of three strategic
committees of the Council, it helps set the overall direction of the Council.

Public participation during the meeting
Public Question time
There is a question time of up to 30 minutes from 7.30pm to 8.00pm to provide an
opportunity for members of the public or representatives of organisations operating in the
Borough to ask questions on matters which are the responsibility of this particular
committee.
Questions must be submitted in writing by one full working before the meeting (i.e.
by 10am the day before the meeting) to democratic.services@kingston.gov.uk





All Council meetings are currently being held online. If you have submitted a valid
question by the deadline set out above, you will be sent instructions as to how to
access the online meeting. It will be your responsibility to ensure that you
understand how your equipment works and that you are ready and available, in
accordance with our instructions, to be granted access to the meeting. The Council
cannot accept any responsibility for unforeseen technical difficulties arising on the
night.
Questions will normally be taken at the meeting in the order that they have been
received.
Questions must be put in person but you can ask someone to provide translation or
other practical assistance to facilitate a question where required. If you have any
individual requirements or feel that addressing the meeting may present a difficulty,
please let us know in good time and at least the day before the meeting, and, as far
as reasonably practicable, arrangement will be made to assist.

4







If you do not attend the meeting or fail to identify yourself at the meeting then the
question will be deemed to be withdrawn. If you have technical difficulties joining
the meeting at the appropriate time, at the Chair’s discretion, a written response
may be provided to your question but is under no obligation to do so.
If you have submitted more than one question, your second and subsequent
questions shall be considered only after all other questioners have had the
opportunity to ask their questions, if time allows. You will have up to three minutes
in which to ask any question. Any questions not dealt with within the 30 minute time
limit will receive a written response.
Please ensure you leave the online meeting once your questions have been
dealt with.
Any questions raised at the meeting and not dealt with within the 30 minute time
limit will receive a written response.

For enquiries, please contact: Democratic.services@kingston.gov.uk
Interests
Councillors must say if they have an interest in any of the items on the Agenda. Interests
may be personal or pecuniary. Depending on the interest declared, it might be necessary
for the Councillor to leave the meeting during the debate on any given item. Further
information regarding declarations of interest can be found in Part 5A of the Constitution Members’ Code of Conduct.
Call-in
Most of the decisions made at the Committee (except in relation to planning and licensing
matters) can be “called in” for review by a minimum of 2% of the registered local
government electors who live in the Borough or 9 Councillors.
Call-in does not apply to decisions of this committee in respect of planning or licensing
matters. These are subject to a separate legal appeals process.
A Decision notice will be published on the Council’s website soon after the meeting with
details of the decisions. A decision can be called in for a period of 10 working days after
the meeting. Decisions are not, therefore, acted upon until it is clear that they are not
going to be called in.
A call-in means the decision will be reviewed by a meeting of the Council’s Scrutiny Panel.
The Panel cannot overturn the decision. It may decide that no further action is necessary,
in which case the decision will be implemented or will refer the issue back to the decision
making Committee (or, exceptionally, to a meeting of the Full Council) with its views and a
request that the decision is reconsidered taking account of these views.
Minutes
The Minutes briefly summarise the item and record the decision. They do not record who
said what during the debate.

A1
Culture, Housing, Environment & Planning Committee

Appendix A

17 March 2021
Article 4 Direction to remove permitted development rights to erect, improve or alter
gates, fences, walls or other means of enclosure at Seething Wells Filter Beds,
Surbiton
Nazeya Hussain, Executive Director of Place
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Rebekah Moll, Portfolio Holder for Planning Policy
and Culture.

Purpose
To review the representations received following the recent public consultation on the
making of an immediate Article 4 Direction on land at Seething Wells Filter Beds to
remove nationally permitted development rights for the erection, construction,
maintenance, improvement or alteration of a gate, fence, wall or other means of
enclosure and to determine whether or not to confirm the Direction.
Recommendation that To resolve that 1.

The representations received through the public consultation be considered

2.

The confirmation of the Article 4 Direction, subject to minor modifications to the
wording of the Direction in order to allow the repair, maintenance and ‘like for like’
replacement of any existing gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure is
approved.

Benefits to the Community:
The Article 4 Direction has been made in order to protect wildlife on the site.

Key Points
A.

This report seeks the Committee’s approval to confirm the immediate Article 4
Direction relating to Seething Wells Filter Beds which would make the Article 4
Direction permanently effective.

B.

The Article 4 Direction removes the ability to put up fencing, gates and other means
of enclosure on the site without planning permission.

C.

A Statement of Consultation setting out the Council’s full approach to consultation,
and an analysis of the responses received, is set out in Annex 1.

D.

Draft amendments have been made to the Article 4 Direction in response to the
public consultation. The draft amended Direction is set out Annex 2 and would allow
the repair and like-for-like replacement of any existing gates, fencing, walls or other
means of enclosure without the need to apply for planning permission.

A2

Context
1.

The site at Seething Wells currently comprises former filter beds which have
been drained. Any form of building would require planning permission.
Notwithstanding this, the owner of the site could erect fences (or other means of
enclosure) up to two metres in height, or up to one metre where it adjoins a
highway, without the need for planning permission, subject to the provisions of
Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A of The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (the GPDO).

2.

Article 4 directions can be used to remove specific permitted development rights
in all or parts of the local authority’s area. It would not restrict development
altogether but instead it can ensure that development cannot be carried out
under the specified permitted development rights and therefore such
development would require planning permission. A planning application would
need to be submitted that would then be determined in accordance with the
development plan and a planning application fee may be payable.

3.

The National Planning Policy Framework 2019, paragraph 53, explains that the
use of Article 4 directions to remove national permitted development rights
should be limited to situations where this is necessary to protect local amenity or
the wellbeing of the area.

4.

Article 4 directions can either be immediate or non-immediate. Immediate
directions can be made where specific permitted development rights present an
immediate threat to a local amenity or prejudices the proper planning of an area.

5.

The site, which is designated as a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation
(SINC) and as Metropolitan Open Land, represents a unique habitat within the
borough. The site is of particular importance to wintering wildfowl and bat
populations. Previous ecological records demonstrate that the site once
supported a species-rich calcareous grassland. Current management practices
have resulted in significant ecological degradation and reduced the extent and
value of the habitats present. This analysis is supported by a SINC Review that
has recently been published.

6.

Council officers considered that there was likely potential for the landowners to
erect fencing throughout the site which had the potential to cause harm to local
biodiversity, which would be prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and
constitute a threat to the amenities of that area.

7.

Therefore, it was considered appropriate to make an immediate Article 4
direction at Seething Wells Filter Beds on 23 October 2020 to withdraw permitted
development rights granted under Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 of The Town
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015
(as amended).

8.

The procedures relating to notification and publication of the Article 4 direction,
as set out in Schedule 3 of the GPDO, have been followed.

Proposal and Options
9.

There are three options available to the Council, which are set out below.

10.

The first option is for the Council to confirm the Article 4 Direction with the
recommended changes to the Direction (the recommended option). This would
permanently remove the ability to put up new fencing, gates and other means of
enclosure on the site without planning permission. However, it would allow for the

A3
repair or like-for-like replacement of any fencing, gates and other means of
enclosure.

11.

The second option is for the Council to confirm the Article 4 Direction as originally
made. This would permanently remove the ability to put up fencing, gates and
other means of enclosure on the site without planning permission, including the
ability for the repair or like-for-like replacement of any fencing, gates and other
means of enclosure.

12.

The third option is for the Council to not to confirm the Article 4 Direction. Should
this action be taken, the Article 4 Direction will cease being effective on 20 April
2021. After this date, fencing, gates and other means of enclosure on the site
could be erected without planning permission.

Justification
13.

The justification to serve the Article 4 Direction is set out in detail in the report on
the use of the Urgency Action Procedure Rule 30 dated 22 October 2020, which
can be found as a background document to this report. A report on the use of
Urgency Action Procedure Rule 30 was taken to the Culture, Housing,
Environment and Planning Committee on 11 February 2021.

14.

The site, which is of borough grade importance, represents a unique habitat
within the borough. The site is of particular importance to wintering wildfowl and
bat populations. Previous ecological records demonstrate that the site once
supported a species-rich calcareous grassland. Current management practices
or lack of, have resulted in significant ecological degradation and reduced the
extent and value of the habitats present.

15.

The potential harm that the direction is intended to address has been clearly
identified and is necessary to protect local amenity or the wellbeing of the area.

Consultations and Engagement
16.

A six week consultation was held between 5 November 2020 and 18 December
2020. As part of the consultation process the following methods were used to
raise awareness:
● Emails were sent to 575 consultees informing them about the consultation
and how to respond.
● Press release and Public Notice
● Online portal and targeted social media campaign.

17.

A more complete summary of the consultation responses and observations is
contained in the Statement of Consultation (Annex 1).

18.

In summary 103 submissions were received via Kingston’s on-line engagement
platform; 17 submissions were received via email, totaling 120 formal responses
submitted.

19.

Of the respondents to the online platform, 90% of respondents agreed with the
Article 4 Direction at Seething Wells being made permanent.

20.

Issues raised through respondent’s submission are summarised in the Statement
of Consultation, however particular concerns raised were;

● Impact on biodiversity and the natural environment
● Previous damage to the site
● Industrial heritage on the site

A4

21.

In response to concerns raised by the Landowners of Seething Wells Filter Beds,
changes have been made to the Article 4 Direction to allow for the maintenance,
repair and ‘like for like’ replacement of gates, fences, walls and other means of
enclosure.

Timescale
22.

The Article 4 Direction needs to be confirmed by 20 April 2021 for it to become
permanent. If after this date the Direction is not confirmed, fencing, gates and
other means of enclosure on the site could be erected without planning
permission.

Financial Context
23.

The council is operating in an increasingly challenging financial environment.
Kingston faced a number of financial challenges in the medium to longer term even before the COVID-19 outbreak, which has further added to these
challenges. The economic and financial consequences of the pandemic, growing
demand for services, and limited government grant funding make it difficult to find
adequate funds to meet the borough's needs.

24.

The future of local government finance faces a significant level of uncertainty.
The impact of the Fair Funding Review and a future review of business rates is
currently unknown, and the lasting effects of COVID-19 on our residents, local
businesses and the Council itself remain uncertain.

25.

Despite these challenges the council has a drive and commitment to ensure it is
doing the best for residents and communities

Resource Implications
26.

There are minimal costs associated with notifying consultees if the Article 4
Direction is confirmed. These costs have been covered by the Strategic Planning
budget to date and will continue to be upon confirmation.

Legal Implications

27.

An Article 4 Direction removes nationally permitted development rights.

28.

The Council is allowed to serve an Article 4 Direction with immediate effect in
accordance with Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (the GPDO) where they are
satisfied that the type of development set out in the Schedule should not be
carried out unless permission is granted for it on application, because it would be
prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and constitute a threat to the
amenities of that area.

29.

Schedule 3 of the GPDO advises that an immediate Article 4 Direction takes
effect upon publication and service of the notice, and remains in force for six
months from the date it is given, until it is confirmed by the Council, having taken
into account any representations received. The Council must notify the Secretary
of State on the same day the notice is served.

30.

Schedule 3 of the GPDO explains that the Council must consult on a
non-immediate Article 4 Direction by (a) local advertisement, (b) site display at no
fewer than two locations within the area to which the direction relates for a period
of no less than six weeks and (c) by serving the notice on the owner and

A5
occupier of every part of the land within the area to which the direction relates,
unless this is impractical.

31.

Owners and occupiers of the land should note that the Article 4 Direction does
not prevent the development to which it applies, but instead requires that
planning permission is first obtained from the Council for that development.
There is no fee for such planning applications.

Risk Assessment

32.

The serving of an immediate Article 4 Direction could carry the risk of
compensation if the Direction removes the ability to repair or replace any gates,
fences, walls or other means of enclosure through damage without the need for
planning permission. An amended Direction that would allow the maintenance,
repair and ‘like for like’ replacement of existing gates, fences and means
enclosure is recommended for approval in order to address this risk.

33.

The alternative is a non-immediate Article 4 Direction, but this takes one year to
come into effect, and will not therefore serve the urgent need to protect
biodiversity on the land.

Equalities Analysis

34.

An Equalities Impact Assessment was not completed because this report does
not propose changes to existing service-related policies or the development of
new service-related policies.

Health Implications
35.

There are not any health implications associated with the Article 4 Direction.

Road Network Implications

36.

There are not any road network implications associated with the Article 4
Direction.

Sustainability Implications

37.

The potential for causing harm to biodiversity through the erection of gates,
fences, walls or other means of enclosure on site has been reduced. The
Landowner is now required to submit a planning application should they wish to
erect gates, fences, walls or other means of enclosure. The Council can now
refuse application for fencing, walls and other means of enclosure unless
appropriate measures have been taken to mitigate any potential harm to
biodiversity.

Annexes
● Annex 1 - Statement of Consultation
● Annex 2 - Draft amended Article 4 Direction
Background papers ● Urgency Action Procedure 20 Report (22 October 2020)
● SINC Review by LUC (January 2021)
Author of report - Tom Bright, Principal Planning Policy Officer
Email: tom.bright@kingston.gov.uk

A6

Annex 1

Statement of Consultation
Article 4 Direction for Seething Wells
Filter Beds
February 2021

A7

Statement of Consultation
Article 4 Direction for Seething Wells Filter Beds
1. Introduction

3

2. Consultation Process
Consultee Notification
Online survey

3
4
4

3. Summary of responses and main issues

4

4. Conclusion

8

Appendix 1 - Online Survey and Quantitative Analysis of Survey Results
Main findings from online survey
Profile of respondents

9
9
10

Appendix 2 - Online survey questions

14

2

A8

1. Introduction
This Statement of Consultation sets out the approach and summarises the results of the
public consultation undertaken by the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames on the
Article 4 Direction for Seething Wells Filter Beds which took place between the 5 November
2020 and 18 December 2020.
The Article 4 Direction for Seething Wells was introduced as an immediate Article 4 Direction
to protect Seething Wells Filter Beds in Surbiton from potential harm to local biodiversity. The
Article 4 Direction temporarily removes the ability to erect fencing, gates and other means of
enclosure on the site without planning permission. This report summarises the feedback
received during the consultation process.

2. Consultation Process
The engagement process for the Article 4 Direction consisted of a formal consultation held in
late 2020. During this time the Council undertook a wide range of methods of communication
in order to ensure that notification of the consultation reached as many people in the
borough as possible. A full list of all engagement activities are set out below.
Engagement activity

Date

575 emails sent to statutory consultees and the strategic
planning contacts database informing them about the
consultation and how to respond.

5 November 2020

A notice was published in the Surrey Comet

5 November 2020

A site notice was put up at the site.

5 November 2020

A press release was produced in collaboration with the
Communications team.

5 November 2020

Information about the consultation was included within
RBK matters and the borough newsletter.

November 2020

Online engagement

Date

A copy of the Sealed Article 4 Direction was available to
download via the Council's website as well as the
Council’s online survey portal at:
https://kingstonletstalk.co.uk/consultation-seething-wells

November - December 2020

Social media (Facebook, Twitter)

November - December 2020

3

A9

A specific webpage about the Article 4 Direction and the
consultation at:
https://www.kingston.gov.uk/policy/article-4-direction-seet
hing-wells-filter-beds/1

November 2020

Online consultation portal page set up with online survey
at:
https://kingstonletstalk.co.uk/consultation-seething-wells

November - December 2020

Consultee Notification
All those on the Strategic Planning databases, were informed of the consultation by email,
advising on details of the consultation.
Online survey
All stakeholders were encouraged to respond to the Article 4 Direction consultation via an
online survey on the council’s engagement portal. The full list of survey questions are set
out in Appendix 2 of this report.

3. Summary of responses and main issues
In total, the Council received 120 consultation responses. This includes:
●

103 online respondents to the online survey, 76% of which were from local residents;

4

A10

●

17 emailed responses received from local residents, resident associations and
specific consultation bodies.

Overall 90.3% of the online respondents agreed or strongly agreed that the Article 4
Direction for Seething Wells Filter Beds should be made permanent.
The following table summarises the main issues raised and the Council’s response.
Issue raised

Council’s response

Impact on biodiversity and the natural
environment - The majority of comments
which were left by respondents related to
the biodiversity found on the site. Numerous
comments cited the need to protect
biodiversity and the wider natural
environment on the site. Nearly all of the
respondents who raised this issue agreed
that the Article 4 Direction should be made
permanent.

The potential impact on biodiversity is the
main reason why the Article 4 Direction was
introduced. This is supported by the
assessment of the site in the recently
published a Review of Sites of Importance
for Nature Conservation (SINCs) in the
Borough which provides the following
recommendation for the site:
“Due to the current management practices,
which include the treatment and removal of
vegetation, being implemented, the site is at
risk of dedesignation unless urgent action is
taken to implement remedial measures to
restore the site.
The site has significantly changed since the
previous survey due to the current
management approach, which has reduced
the extent and value of the habitats present.
The site now primarily comprises standing
water and bare ground with tall ruderal
vegetation and ephemeral/short perennial
plant species. The remains of some value
to breeding birds and winter waterfowl
species using the River Thames,
however this could be further improved
through appropriate management of the
site.
Given the nature of the site, which
continues to support wetland habitats, as
well as its relationship with the River
Thames and its geological character, the
site is considered to continue to be of
notable value. Due to these factors and
given that the site has been subject to”.

Previous damage on the site - Many
comments raised the issue of previous
damage to features on the site.
Respondents who raised this issue agreed
that the Article 4 Direction should be made
permanent.

This Article 4 Direction only removes
permitted development rights to erect,
improve or alter new gates, fences, walls or
other means of enclosure. The Council will
monitor the situation on the site to ensure
that damage and harm to natural habitat is
avoided.

5

A11

Industrial Heritage - Some comments
highlighted the industrial heritage of the site
as an example of Victorian engineering and
the Local Listing of parts of the site as
reason to further protect the site.
Respondents who raised this issue agreed
that the Article 4 Direction should be made
permanent.

This Article 4 Direction only removes
permitted development rights to erect,
improve or alter new gates, fences, walls or
other means of enclosure. The Council will
monitor the situation on the site to ensure
that damage and harm to heritage assets is
avoided.

Opportunities for development - A
sizable minority of comments believed that
some form of development should occur on
the site. There was a split between those
who provided development suggestions
over the type which they’d like to see occur
on the site. Some people suggested the site
should be developed for a leisure use
(nature reserve, park, visitor centre)
whereas others stated that the site would
be suitable for housing and community
facilities. The majority of respondents who
disagreed with the Article 4 Direction being
made permanent cited this issue.

Comment noted, however this consultation
only relates to permitted development rights
to erect, improve or alter gates, fences,
walls or other means of enclosure.
Comments on the future of the site can be
made as part of the next public consultation
on the new Local Plan.

The use of the Council’s urgency powers
to make the Direction was unreasonable
and not justified - A point was raised
claiming that the urgency powers were
invoked simply due to the Council’s desire
to refuse an application for a certificate of
lawfulness for a reason which was incorrect
as a matter of law.

The application for a Lawful Development
Certificate for erecting new fencing on the
site, when taken into consideration with the
recent clearance of vegetation on the site,
made clear that there is a high probability
that fencing would be erected imminently.
This is considered sufficient to justify the
use of Urgency Powers in a specific and
targeted way. The decision to make an
Article 4 Direction was taken following
advice from the Council's Biodiversity officer
regarding this important site of nature
interest. This is supported by Review of
SINCs that was recently published.
The decision to use Urgency Powers was
made in consultation with the Chairs of the
Council’s Culture, Housing, Environment
and Planning (CHEP) Committee. The
Direction is valid for a maximum period of
six months, during which time a decision on
whether to confirm the Direction with or
without modifications will be made by the
CHEP Committee.

There is no evidential basis for
concluding that the exercise of the
Restricted PD Rights would be
prejudicial to the proper planning of
their area or constitute a threat to the

The justification for the making of the
Article 4 Direction is on biodiversity
grounds. The decision to make an Article 4
Direction was taken following advice from
the Council's Biodiversity officer regarding

6

A12

amenities of the Council’s area - A point
was raised claiming that the Council’s
assertion that the exercise of the Restricted
PD Rights would cause such prejudice is
based upon an assertion of potential harm
to biodiversity which also has no evidential
basis.

this important site of nature interest. This is
supported by Review of SINCs that was
recently published.

The Council has failed to consider all
reasonable alternatives to the making of
the Direction.

In relation to identifying alternative courses
of action, the making of an Article 4
Direction that did not have immediate effect
was not considered a reasonable
alternative as postponing its effective date
could have defeated its purpose in that
fencing can be erected relatively quickly.
The Council review all responses received
during the public consultation and will
consider amending the Direction, if
necessary, to the effect that certain
development in Class A of Part 2 to
Schedule 2 of The Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended),
including the ability to replace, maintain or
improve any means of enclosure, will
continue to be allowed under permitted
development rights.

The Council failed to properly consider
the potential financial implications of the
making of the Direction - A point was
raised stating that there is potential for
public liability issues to arise in the event
any urgent maintenance or repair works are
necessary to ensure the safety of highway
users and/or the occupants and
users of the residential houseboats and
pontoons, but which the Landowner was
unable to carry out immediately due to the
Direction.

The intention of the Article 4 Direction is not
to prevent the ability to secure the site but
rather to ensure that any additional new
means of enclosure or fencing are designed
to allow wildlife to pass freely underneath
so as to allow them to roam throughout the
site. The Council is proposing to amend the
Direction in order to allow the maintenance
repair and ‘like for like’ replacement of any
gates, fences, walls or other means of
enclosure without needing to apply for and
obtaining planning permission.

The Direction removes the ability of the
Landowner to repair any means of
enclosure and/or erect any new
means of enclosure to secure the Site
after damage and trespass has occurred.

The Council is proposing to amend the
Direction in order to allow the maintenance
repair and ‘like for like’ replacement of any
fences, walls, gates and means of
enclosure without needing to apply for and
obtaining planning permission.

A number of these issues did not directly relate to permanence of the Article 4 Direction. The
Council will welcome comments on the future of the site as part of the next public
consultation on the new Local Plan and will consider any new application in line with national
and local planning policy.

7

A13

4. Conclusion
Overall responses were broadly supportive of the Article 4 Direction being made permanent.
However, in light of the issues raised, it is recommended that an amendment to the Direction
should be made to allow for the maintenance, repair and ‘like for like’ replacement of fences,
walls or other means of enclosure on the site.

8

A14

Appendix 1 - Online Survey and Quantitative Analysis of Survey
Results

Main findings from online survey
The results below sets out the online survey responses only. This accounts for 103
responses of all 120 responses received.
Q1 asked for what best described the responder’s interest in the consultation
Q2 asked the responder’s postcode
Q3: To what extent do you agree or disagree that the Article 4 Direction for Seething
Wells Filter Beds be made permanent?

9

A15

Q4: If you have any further comments please add them to the text box below.
●

A table of comments is contained within Appendix 3.

Profile of respondents
The survey asked a number of standard demographic questions. This is for equalities
monitoring and to check how representative the respondent profile is when compared with
that of the borough as a whole.
Q5: What is your ethnic group?

10

A16

Q6: Do you have any physical or mental health conditions lasting or expected to last
12 months or more?

Q7: Do you have any health conditions or impairments which affect you in the
following areas?

11

A17

Q8 What gender are you?

Q9 Is your gender identity the same as the gender you were assigned at birth?

12

A18

Q10: What is your age?

13

A19

Appendix 2 - Online survey questions
Q1: Which of the following best describes your interest in the consultation? (Choose
all that apply)
● As a resident of Kingston
● As an employee or self employee of a business or organisation based in Kingston
● As a member of a community group or organisation
● As an elected member
● Other (please specify)
Q2: Please tell us your postcode so we are able to map responses.
Q3: To what extent do you agree or disagree that the Article 4 Direction for Seething
Wells Filter Beds be made permanent?
● Strongly Agree
● Agree
● Neither Agree nor Disagree
● Disagree
● Strongly Disagree
● Other (please specify)
Q4: If you have any further comments please feel free to add them to the text box
below.

Equalities Monitoring Form
Q5: Ethnicity - What is your ethnic group? Choose one option that best describes
your ethnic group or background.
● White - English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish / British
● White - Irish
● White - Gypsy or Irish Traveller
● White - Any other White Background
● Mixed / Multiple ethnic groups - White & Black Caribbean
● Mixed / Multiple ethnic groups - White & Black African
● Mixed / Multiple ethnic groups - White & Asian
● Mixed / Multiple ethnic groups - Any other Mixed / Multiple ethnic background
● Asian or Asian British - Indian
● Asian or Asian British - Pakistani
● Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi
● Asian or Asian British - Chinese
● Asian or Asian British - Tamil
● Asian or Asian British - Korean
● Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian background
● Black / African / Caribbean / Black British - Caribbean
14

A20

●
●
●
●
●

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British - African
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British - Any other Black / African / Caribbean
background
Other ethnic group - Arab
Any other ethnic group (please describe)
Prefer not to say

Q6: Health Conditions/Impairments - Do you have any physical or mental health
conditions lasting or expected to last 12 months or more?
● Yes
● No
● Prefer not to say
Q7: Health Conditions/Impairments - Do you have any health conditions or
impairments which affect you in the following areas? Please tick all that apply.
● Vision
● Hearing
● Mobility/Physical
● Learning Disability
● Mental Health
● Health Diagnosis
● Prefer not to say
● Other (please tell us)
Q8: Gender - Are you:
● Male
● Female
● Prefer not to say
Q9: Gender - Is your gender identity the same as the gender you were assigned at
birth?
● Yes
● No
● Prefer not to say
● Other (please tell us)
Q10: What is your age?
● Under 16
● 16-24
● 25-34
● 35-44
● 45-54
● 55-64
● 65-74
● 75-84
● 85+
● Prefer not to say

15

A21

Q11: Which of the following options best describes how you think of yourself?
● Heterosexual
● Gay
● Lesbian
● Bisexual
● Pansexual
● Prefer not to say
● Other (please tell us)
Q12: What is your religion?
● No religion
● Christian (including Church of England, Catholic, Protestant and all other Christian
denominations)
● Buddhist
● Hindu
● Jewish
● Sikh
● Muslim
● Prefer not to say
● Other (please tell us)

16

A22

Annex 2
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT) ORDER
2015 (AS AMENDED)
IMMEDIATE DIRECTION MADE UNDER ARTICLE 4(1)
SEETHING WELLS FILTER BEDS SURBITON
WHEREAS the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames being appointed the local planning
authority within the meaning of Article 4(4) of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) is satisfied that it is expedient that
development of the description set out in the Schedule below should not be carried out on
the land known as Seething Wells Filter Beds and shown outlined in red on the attached
plan (“the said land”), unless permission is granted on an application made under Part III of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
AND WHEREAS the Council is of the view that development of the said description would
constitute a threat to the amenities of their area
NOW THEREFORE the Council in pursuant of the power conferred on them by Article 4(1)
of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as
amended) hereby direct the permission granted by Article 3 of the said Order shall not apply
to development on the said land of the descriptions set out in the Schedule below.
THIS DIRECTION originally made under Article 4(1) of the said Order on 23rd October 2020
was confirmed by the Council at a meeting of its Culture Housing Environment and Planning
Committee on 17th March 2021 under paragraph 1(7) and in accordance with paragraphs
1(9) and (10) of Schedule 3 to the said Order with the modification shown in italic print in the
Schedule
SCHEDULE
The erection, construction, improvement or alteration of a gate, fence, wall or other means of
enclosure comprised within Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 to the said Order and not being
development/use comprised within any other class SAVE THAT this provision does not
restrict the repair maintenance or replacement of any existing gate fence wall or other
means of enclosure on the said land PROVIDED THAT such works replicate any existing
means of enclosure in design form height and materials used
[SITE LOCATION PLAN TO BE INSERTED HERE AND SEALED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH MEETING PROCEDURE RULE 34]

A23

Originally made under the Common Seal of the Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames
on the 23rd day of October 2020 and confirmed as modified under the Common Seal of the
Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames on this day of March 2021
THE COMMON SEAL of
THE MAYOR AND BURGESSES
OF THE ROYAL BOROUGH OF
KINGSTON UPON THAMES
was hereunto affixed to this
Direction in the presence of:

Signature 
Name



Authorized Signatory in accordance with
Meeting Procedure Rule 34.
Seal Register No. L

B1
Culture, Housing, Environment and Planning Committee

Appendix B

17 March 2021
Further Engagement on the Local Plan
Nazeya Hussain, Executive Director of Place
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Rebekah Moll, Portfolio Holder for Planning Policy
and Culture.
Purpose of Report
To agree to a revised Local Development Scheme, and the approach to engagement for
the next phase of the Local Plan.
Recommendation(s)
The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that:
1. A revised Local Development Scheme (Annex 1) incorporating changes to the
timetable for preparing the new Local Plan set out in this report be approved.
2. The undertaking of an additional stage of engagement in the Local Plan
programme (to be known as Further Engagement on the Local Plan) - as set out
in the revised Local Development Scheme - be approved. This will be carried out
in conformity with relevant planning regulations.
3. Prior to the Further Engagement on the Local Plan , the Assistant Director for
Strategic Planning and Infrastructure, in consultation with the relevant Portfolio
Holders and opposition spokesperson(s) be given delegated authority to agree
the materials for the Further Engagement on the Local Plan.

Benefits to the Community:
The updated Local Development Scheme will provide clarity to the community on the
timescales for the delivery of the Local Plan and when they can take part in its
preparation. It will also provide information about the planning documents comprising the
borough’s current Development Plan and the new documents that the Council intends to
produce as it delivers its Local Plan. By carrying out the recommendations within this
report, the Council will be continuing its commitment to hardwire engagement into
decision making. Communities will help to shape the vision for Kingston’s future and play
an intrinsic role in creating a truly local plan for the borough up to 2041.
Key Points
A.

Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a statutory
requirement on the Council to set out its current planning policy documents and any
new or replacement documents it intends to produce, and list them in the Local
Development Scheme (LDS).

B.

There have been significant changes to the planning policy context since Kingston’s
2020 LDS was approved. Most notably the publication of the Government’s White

B2
Paper on the future of planning and the imminent publication of the Mayor’s new
London Plan.

C.

The updated LDS (Annex 1) covers the period from Spring 2021 to Winter 2023/24.
These changes include an update to the timetable for preparing the new Local Plan.
The new Local Plan will set out the overall development strategy for the borough for
the period 2019-2041.

D.

The Local Plan sets the vision for the borough until 2041. The council needs to
ensure that it is right for the conditions now. The council has a commitment to
ensuring engagement is at the heart of everything it does and enables local people
to be part of shaping decisions and decision making.

E.

There has been much significant change since the council first heard from
communities on its Early Engagement on the Local Plan in 2019, some of which
has been entirely unexpected. COVID-19 has changed how people live their lives,
the soon to be adopted new London Plan now asks Kingston to build 964 homes a
year, national planning policy has changed, and the local environment and
community spaces have become even more important to many people. The Council
declared a climate emergency in June 2019 and has committed to supporting a
carbon neutral position for the borough by 2038.

F.

The Council needs to ensure it captures the latest thoughts and views on how
Kingston grows sustainably and changes as a borough over the next twenty years,
protecting the borough’s heritage and culture alongside creating places to meet the
needs of those starting out and for future generations. To do this, the Council needs
to talk to residents and communities that live, work and spend time in the borough.

G.

The engagement strategy comprises primarily an accessible digital approach given
the ongoing restrictions and the intentions of White Paper, with the option of holding
face-to-face events if restrictions allow. Special focus will also be given to engaging
with those who may not have access to the internet, through working with council
officers, partners, local organisations and community groups.

H.

As part of this stage of developing a new Local Plan, the Council will reopen the
Call for Sites, asking communities if there are sites, of any size or type, within the
borough that could potentially be developed in the future to provide more homes,
jobs and supporting infrastructure to provide for all.

I.

Based on this engagement, the Council will collate the feedback, together with that
from the previous engagement and prepare a draft Local Plan.

Context
1.

The Local Development Scheme (LDS) sets out details for the production of the
new Local Plan. The process for preparing each of these documents is prescribed
by Government legislation under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
The LDS sets out the timetable for the preparation of the new Local Plan. The latest
LDS was updated and approved in July 2020.

2.

B3
A new Local Plan is needed to conform with the requirements set out in the updated
National Planning Policy Framework (2019), and the new London Plan. The Local
Plan will need to identify how the Council intends to meet the new housing and
employment needs identified in its evidence base studies to successfully deliver
government requirements and those of the London Plan. The Council’s current
Development Plan Documents do not adequately demonstrate how it intends to
deliver the needs of a rapidly rising population.

3.

The first formal public engagement (Regulation 18 stage) on the new Local Plan
(Early Engagement) was carried out between May and July 2019. A Statement of
Consultation summarising the representations made is included in Annex 2.

4.

Since the latest update to the LDS, there have been various changes to the
planning policy context - both at national and London level - which have impacted
on the ability to continue preparing the new Local Plan in accordance with timetable
set out in the 2020, LDS which are set out below.

5.

In August 2020, the Government published planning policy changes in England in
2020 and the ‘Planning for the Future’ White Paper. The White Paper sets out
proposals for a series of fundamental reforms to the planning system in England,
covering plan-making, development management, and development contributions.
The proposed changes are significant and will likely have far-reaching implications
for the planning functions of this Council in the future, including a proposed zonal
approach to plan making.

6.

The White Paper sets out that the new-style Local Plans could see:
● A focus on identifying land suitable for different types of development and
non-development under three categories (Growth, Renewal and Protected).
○ Plans would also have to set out the types and forms of development
suitable in each area and any site-specific requirements.
● An expectation for authorities to make greater use of digital technologies, for
plans to be more visual and map-based, and utilise digital tools to modernise
the planning process. The Council is committed to following this new
approach by incorporating greater use of digital technologies in the new
Local Plan.

7.

In September 2020, significant changes to the Use Classes Order came into effect,
including the collating of various town centre uses into a single use class (Class E),
which impacts the ability to manage retail, commercial and office uses.

8.

Since the Early Engagement of the new Local Plan, the new London Plan has
progressed through Examination in Public to a final Publication stage, which has
now been approved by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local
Government. The Publication version of the new London Plan has decreased the
housing target for the Borough from 1,364 homes per year (as set out in the version
that went to Examination in Public) to 964 homes per year. Nonetheless, this
housing target is significantly higher than the current housing target (643 homes per

B4
year) set out in the 2016 London Plan. The new London Plan is expected to be
formally published by the Mayor of London imminently.

9.

The continued impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, together with the various
changes to the planning policy context, have resulted in a need to reprogramme the
timetable for preparing the new Local Plan. It is considered that the most
appropriate way of addressing these changes and the potential impact for
development in the borough in the future is to carry out additional engagement at
Regulation 18 stage - to be known as Further Engagement on the Local Plan,
rather than proceeding to the First Draft of the Local Plan as originally intended.
Consequently, the additional stage of engagement requires an update to the LDS.

Proposals
10.

There are two proposals in this report:
● Revised Local Development Scheme (LDS)
● Further Engagement on the Local Plan

Revised Local Development Scheme
11.

The changes to the planning policy context and the commitment to carry out further
engagement on the new Local Plan requires an updated LDS.

12.

The Minister of State for Housing and Planning recently reiterated that all Local
Plans should be adopted by the end of 2023. The Council is committed to meeting
this target and the revised LDS includes a timetable that schedules the Local Plan
to be adopted by December 2023.

13.

The revised LDS covers the period from Spring 2021 to Winter 2023/24 and is
shown in Annex 1. Once approved, this will be published on the Council’s planning
policy webpages.

Further Engagement on the Local Plan
14.

The Council will involve and collaborate with residents and communities on their
future vision for the borough.

15.

The intention is to use an online platform to gather and test ideas with residents and
gain a greater understanding of their priorities going forward. It is intended that this
platform will be as interactive and engaging as possible.

16.

Ensuring that the Council reaches those who may not have access to online
channels is crucial, by working closely with local partner organisations, stakeholders
and community groups. Special care will be taken to ensure that ‘seldom heard’
groups are engaged and that, insofar as is possible, the engagement reflects the
demographics of the borough.

17.

The ambition is to hold face-to-face events in the summer including workshops and
focus groups with community groups and residents. These are however dependent
on any COVID-19 restrictions that are in place at that time. If in-person events
remain impossible, this will be supplemented by a digital offer with more ways in
which communities can get involved through interactive sessions, telephone
conversations and street surveys where possible. Everything will be done to ensure
that those who are not online have a way to feedback and give their ideas.

Timescale

B5

18.

The next phase of the engagement is due to launch in mid-May, following the lifting
of promotional restrictions after the Mayor of London and London Assembly
elections on 6 May. The exercise will run for 12 weeks with the intention of running
the engagement from May to August 2021.

19.

Prior to the beginning of the engagement, officers will continue working with
partners to develop the detail of the Engagement Strategy so that the council is
ready to commence the engagement after the May Mayoral elections.

Financial Context
20.

The Council is operating in an increasingly challenging financial environment.
Kingston faced a number of financial challenges in the medium to longer term even before the COVID-19 outbreak, which has further added to these challenges.
The economic and financial consequences of the pandemic, growing demand for
services, and limited government grant funding make it difficult to find adequate
funds to meet the borough's needs.

21.

The future of local government finance faces a significant level of uncertainty. The
impact of the Fair Funding Review and a future review of business rates is currently
unknown, and the lasting effects of COVID-19 on residents, local businesses and
the Council itself remain uncertain.

22.

Despite these challenges the council has a drive and commitment to ensure it is
doing the best for residents and communities.

Resource Implications
23.

The cost of the LDS work programme is resourced from the Strategic Planning
Policy revenue budget, from a revenue reserve created for the production of the
Local Plan, and from additional funding agreed by the Corporate Resources Panel.
The costs of producing individual documents will depend on the extent of evidence
gathering and engagement required in each case.

24.

The preparation of the Local Plan is the priority project for the Council. Evidence
base work to inform the Local Plan will draw on officer resources and expertise
across the Council, as well as commissioning specialist consultants to undertake
studies.

25.

The cost of publishing the LDS itself is expected to be minimal, involving publishing
on the Council’s website.

26.

The Further Engagement on the Local Plan provides an additional round of
engagement that will require a review of the existing budget of the Local Plan
Programme. However, the recent changes to the planning policy context are
significant, therefore it is considered imperative to understand the community’s
views on how they affect key issues that need to be addressed in the Local Plan.

27.

With the onset of COVID-19, like most of the Council, the Strategic Planning team
has been home working. Planned resources in the team have also expanded from

B6
two to seven members during this time, which is positive for the production of the
plan. The nature of writing a Local Plan involves working with stakeholders and
partners across the Council to share knowledge and develop evidence base
documents to aid policy writing. Working within the current COVID-19 environment
has created some challenges, however it is still envisaged that the Local Plan
timetable can be met.

28.

The project will be managed by a combination of existing resources and expertise
but to ensure the reach, breadth and quality of feedback needed to draft the Local
Plan the engagement exercise will also need:
● the recruitment of a temporary project officer to oversee the organisation and
delivery of the engagement and to assist with analysis and reporting;
● external design and printing resources to help with promotional materials;
● additional support via a research organisation to assist with innovative
engagement
These additional requirements are fully funded.

Legal Implications
29.

A LDS is required under section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.

30.

The production of the Local Plan and South London Waste Plan are also prescribed
by guidance under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

31.

The Local Plan will need to satisfy a number of legal ‘tests of soundness’ as part of
the Examination in Public concerning its preparation, which are to show that it has
been positively prepared, justified, is effective and consistent with national policy.
Adherence to the Act and the The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) Regulations 2012 will be critical to the Plan being found sound. The Plan
will also need to be in conformity with the London Plan and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

32.

There is a risk of third party legal challenge during the Plan preparation process, for
example from developers/ landowners regarding decisions to include/ exclude sites
as allocations within the Plan. Early engagement serves to mitigate the risk aiming
to draw out any such issues before the critical Examination stage.

33.

The current Core Strategy, and the K+20 Kingston Town Centre Area Action Plan
will remain in place until the new Local Plan reaches adoption. The Local Plan will
gather weight as it proceeds through production, and will be considered alongside
existing adopted documents in decision-making to ensure that new planning
proposals do not prejudice the emerging Local Plan. The weight to be afforded to
the emerging Local Plan will be proportionate to the planmaking stage reached.

Risk Assessment
34.

The LDS confirms that the Council will be producing a new Local Plan. Its adoption
and publication will inform the local community and stakeholders that the Local Plan
is being prepared through the programme set out, including the stages at which

B7
they have the opportunity to be consulted and be involved in its production. It should
be noted that the local community and stakeholders have already been consulted at
the early stage of the Local Plan preparation, notably at the Early Engagement
(Regulation 18) stage, which occurred between May and July 2019.

35.

In addition to a consultation on a complete draft plan (Regulation 18 stage), the
Further Engagement on the Local Plan gives the community another opportunity of
involvement in the plan preparation. Without an adopted LDS the community will not
have sufficient notice of the work being undertaken on the Local Plan through the
LDS, and therefore the Council would not seek to commence the Further
Engagement of the Local Plan until such time that the LDS has been approved.

36.

There are other risks associated with not adopting the LDS:
● The Council will not fulfil its statutory duties to produce an LDS.
● Up-to-date policy documents provide greater guidance and certainty for
developers. Without the LDS and confirmation that this guidance will be
produced, future investment in the borough may be threatened.

37.

Full compliance with the legal requirements of planmaking is the biggest risk to the
production of the Local Plan. The Plan will need to meet the requirements of the
Duty to Cooperate and the ‘tests of soundness’ as identified in government policy,
as these will be the key elements tested against at the Examination in Public. The
revised housing targets in the draft new London Plan pose significant challenges
and continued dialogue with the GLA and other key partners will be necessary to
enable the delivery of the LDS.

Equalities Analysis
38.

An Equalities Impact Assessment will be undertaken as part of the Local Plan work
programme and incorporated into the Sustainability Appraisal process to ensure
that Local Plan policies do not disadvantage any groups or communities. The
Sustainability Appraisal will be undertaken at key Plan-making stages to test the
impact of policy options.

39.

Officers will work with the council’s Equalities Officer to ensure equality duties are
considered in all engagement work and throughout plan preparation. Efforts will be
made to ensure responses are representative of the borough as a whole, to ensure
that representations are not from a narrow demographic range than is seen in the
wider community.

Health Implications
40.

The LDS include the production of the Local Plan which will identify the
development and safeguarding needed to meet the future requirements of the
borough including housing, employment, leisure, open space and other facilities, all
of which are essential to ensure the health and well being of Kingston’s residents
and visitors.

41.

B8
There aren’t any health implications expected for digital engagement. Officers will
work closely with Public Health colleagues to ensure any face to face engagement
exercises are carried out within current COVID-19 guidance.

Road Network Implications
42.

An evidence base is being assembled to support the production of the Local Plan.
This includes a Transport Forecasting Report which assesses the implications of
new development on both the road and public transport networks and associated
mitigation measures necessary to deal with the issues arising.

43.

No road network implications are expected from the engagement exercise.

Sustainability Implications
44.

The Local Plan will be required to be in general conformity with the London Plan
and NPPF which require rigorous examination of environmental and air quality
implications associated with plan production and implementation. Its preparation will
include a Sustainability Appraisal that will ensure the Plan policies and site
allocations do not harm environmental assets. The Plan will seek to protect,
enhance and increase environmental assets such as nature habitats, water quality,
flood protection, air/noise quality and open space.

45.

None expected from the engagement exercise. The Local Plan will help and guide
the future sustainability of the borough.

Annexes
● Annex 1 - Local Development Scheme 2021 - 2024
● Annex 2 - Statement of Consultation for the Local Plan Early Engagement
Background papers
● Local Plan Early Engagement - Consultation document (May 2019)
● Local Plan Early Engagement - Site Assessments document (May 2019)
● Local Development Scheme 2020 - Response and Recovery Committee Report (30
July 2020)
● The Council’s responses to the Planning White Paper consultation - Response and
Recovery Committee Report (29 October 2020)
held by author/ other - Tom Bright, Principal Planning Policy Officer
Email: tom.bright@kingston.gov.uk

B9

Annex 1

Local Development Scheme - 2021 to 2024
Sections
1. Current Development Plan
2. Supporting Documents
3. Community Infrastructure Levy & Neighbourhood Planning
4. Document Profiles

B10

Annex 1

1. Current Development Plan
The Local Development Scheme (LDS) sets out the planning documents that we intend to
produce as part of the Council’s Development Plan. It tells you:
●

the purpose and status of each planning document

●

the stages of production

●

the anticipated timetable

The latest LDS establishes a revised work programme to produce the Borough-wide Local
Plan. [date that the LDS is approved to be inserted here]
●

The Council has a statutory duty to prepare, monitor and review its planning policy
documents. Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as
amended) states that the Council is required to set out current planning policy
documents, and any new or replacement documents that it intends to produce in the
future, and list them within this document.

●

This LDS covers the period from Spring 2021 to Winter 2023/24.

●

There have been significant changes to the planning policy context - both at national
and London levels - which have impacted on the ability to continue preparing the new
Local Plan in accordance with timetable set out in the 2020 LDS which are set out
below.

● In August 2020, the Government published planning policy changes in England in
2020 and the ‘Planning for the Future’ White Paper. The White Paper sets out
proposals for a series of fundamental reforms to the planning system in England,
covering plan-making, development management, and development contributions.
The proposed changes are significant and will likely to have far-reaching implications
for the planning functions of this Council in the future, including a proposed zonal
approach to plan making.

● In September 2020, significant changes to the Use Classes Order came into effect,
including the collating of various town centre uses into a single use class (Class E),
which impacts the ability to manage retail, commercial and office uses.

● Since the Early Engagement of the new Local Plan, the new London Plan has
progressed through Examination in Public to a final Publication stage, which has now
been approved by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local
Government. The Publication version of the new London Plan has decreased the
housing target for the Borough from 1,364 homes per year (as set out in the version
that went to Examination in Public) to 964 homes per year. Nonetheless, this housing
target is still significantly higher than the current housing target (643 homes per year)
set out in the 2016 London Plan. The new London Plan is expected to be formally
published by the Mayor of London imminently.

B11

Annex 1
● The continued impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, together with the various changes
to the planning policy context, have resulted in a need to reprogramme the timetable
for preparing the new Local Plan. It is considered that the most appropriate way of
addressing these changes and the potential impact for development in the Borough
in the future is to carry out an additional consultation at Regulation 18 stage - to be
known as Further Engagement on the Local Plan - rather than proceeding to the First
Draft of the Local Plan as originally intended. Consequently, the additional stage of
consultation requires an update to the LDS which covers the period from 2021 to
2024.

The documents that comprise the Borough’s current Development
Plan
●

The London Plan (Further Alterations to the London Plan, 2016) is currently the
overarching strategic planning document for London boroughs, forming part of the
statutory Development Plan. It should be noted that the Mayor of London has
prepared an ‘Intend to Publish London Plan 2019’, following the completion of the
Examination in Public of the Draft London Plan 2017. The ‘Intend to Publish London
Plan 2019 is expected to be adopted in 2020, at which point, it would supersede the
Further Alterations to the 2016 London Plan.

●

The Core Strategy (2012) sets out the vision, objectives and policies for managing
future growth, change and development within the Borough for the period up to 2027.
Upon adoption, the Local Plan will replace the Core Strategy as a response to the
latest national and regional policy legislation.

●

The Kingston Town Centre Area Action Plan (2008) was the first document to be
adopted in Kingston under the LDF system. The 2011 Local Development Scheme
indicated that the Council intended to update the plan to reflect proposal site
information and availability, and ensure that policies and proposals remain relevant in
the changed economic climate. However, in light of the significantly higher London
Plan housing delivery minimum requirement for the Borough, the Council needs to
assess how this requirement will be met across the whole Borough, and consider
area based policies, thus requiring preparation of a new Local Plan.

●

In partnership with the neighbouring boroughs of Croydon, Merton and Sutton,
Kingston jointly produced the South London Waste Plan (2012) (Joint Waste DPD).
The Plan allocates existing and new sites for waste management facilities and
contains policies to assess applications for future waste management facilities, and
promotes waste reduction and reuse measures. The partnership is in the advanced
stages of preparing a replacement to the South London Waste Plan to be adopted by
the end of 2021.

In addition to the above mentioned plans that make up the statutory Development Plan, the
Council also produces other documents which either provide additional guidance to people
applying for planning permission, or provide information to applicants and others on
community involvement, or monitoring.

B12

Annex 1

2. Supporting Documents
Local Development Documents
Policies Map
●

The 2012 Policies Map was adopted at the same time as the Core Strategy, and
illustrates the existing Local Plan’s policies and designations.

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)
●

The 2020 SCI sets out how the Council will involve the public in the preparation of
planning documents and provides guidance on how the public can respond to
planning applications, giving people a say in the planning process. This has been
updated to reflect the most up to date approach for the Borough.

Supplementary Planning Documents
●

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are not part of the Development Plan,
so do not hold the same weight in planning decisions, but are a material
consideration for future planning applications. However, they provide additional
guidance and detail to support the effective implementation of adopted Plan policies

The Council has adopted the following Supplementary Planning Documents:
Supplementary Planning Document

Adoption

Designing Inclusive Buildings - access for all SPD

July 2005

Shopfront and Shop Sign Design Guide SPD

July 2005

Affordable Housing SPD

May 2013

Sustainable Transport SPD

June 2013

Residential Design SPD

July 2013

Eden Quarter Development Brief SPD

March 2015

Financial Viability in Planning SPD

December 2016

Planning Obligations SPD

April 2017

Cocks Crescent SPD

April 2017

Kingston Riverside Public Realm SPD

September 2018

Following adoption of the new Local Plan, the status of existing Supplementary Planning
Documents will need to be considered and addressed. In some cases (where the policies to
which they relate do not change) the content of an SPD may remain valid; but it will be

B13

Annex 1
prudent to publicly restate/re-publish this, with any necessary updating, which may be
required. In other instances, where policy will change, as is likely to happen in relation to
matters such as affordable housing, the relevant SPD may need to be formally cancelled
and a new SPD prepared and published.

Authority Monitoring Report (AMR)
The AMR assesses the delivery of development and the effectiveness of the local policies
set out in the Council’s statutory planning documents. The report monitors performance on
an annual basis.

B14

Annex 1

Community Infrastructure Levy & Neighbourhood
Planning
Community Infrastructure Levy - CIL
●

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a tool for local authorities to help deliver
infrastructure to support the development of the area. It applies to most new buildings
and is primarily paid by the owners/developers of the land being developed; charges
are calculated in accordance with the adopted Charging Schedule which is based on
the size, type and location of the development. The Council adopted its CIL Charging
Schedule in November 2015.

●

The London Mayoral CIL (MCIL) was introduced with the intention of raising up to
£600 million to help finance Crossrail. It therefore seeks contributions from
developers for additional floorspace they create across London. This MCIL charge is
applicable to all London boroughs and calculated based on the amount of additional
floorspace created, the location and how development is to be used.

●

The Mayor of London introduced a new MCIL2 charge in April 2019 for all
development in London, which supersedes MCIL1. MCIL2 will be used to contribute
£4.5 billion of funding for Crossrail 2.

Neighbourhood Planning
●

The Localism Act 2011 enables local communities through the establishment of
Neighbourhood Forums to prepare Neighbourhood Plans for their local area. The
Plans should set out how growth will be accommodated, and need to be in conformity
with the objectives and policies of the Core Strategy.

●

The Council’s role in Neighbourhood Planning is to provide advice and support to
communities to help them prepare their Plans, and once approved at independent
Examination, to adopt the Neighbourhood Plan as part of the Development Plan.
Adopted Neighbourhood Plans must be taken into account in planning application
decision-making.

●

There has been some community interest across the borough in Neighbourhood
Planning. An area covering Canbury and Tudor wards has been designated as a
Neighbourhood Area and the North Kingston Forum has been designated as the
Neighbourhood Forum for that area. The Neighbourhood Forum is preparing a
Neighbourhood Plan and is proposing to submit their Plan for examination in the near
future.

B15

Annex 1

4. Document Profiles
Local Plan
Purpose / content
The Local Plan will set out the overall development strategy for Kingston for the period
2019-2041 to seek to meet the Borough’s objectively assessed needs. It will include both
strategic policies and non-strategic policies. The plan will also identify site allocations for
different forms of land use, to aid the designation of land for uses such as housing,
employment, infrastructure, leisure, open spaces, health, education or community uses, or to
afford protection through designations such as Green Belt or Metropolitan Open Land.
The Local Plan will also provide a policy context for Neighbourhood Plans. An adopted
Policies Map will sit alongside the Local Plan.
A new Local Plan is needed to conform with the requirements set out in the NPPF (2019),
together with the substantial increase in the Borough’s minimum housing requirement as set
out in the emerging London Plan. The Council’s current Plans do not adequately
demonstrate conformity with these requirements. A further driver for a new Local Plan is that
the Council’s current Development Plan Documents no longer reflect how it intends to
deliver the growth needs of a rapidly rising population.
Status:
Statutory Local Plan
Coverage:
Borough-wide
Conformity:
With the National Planning Policy Framework, and the adopted London Plan at the time of
Submission.
Indicative timetable:
Key Milestones

Date

Approval of the revised LDS

Q1 2021

Further Engagement on the Local Plan (Regulation 18)

Q2/Q3 2021

Preparation of the Local Plan First Draft

Q1/Q2 2022

Local Plan First Draft consultation (Regulation 18)

Q3/Q4 2022

Local Plan Publication Version (Regulation 19)

Q1 2023

B16

Annex 1
Local Plan Submission Version (Regulation 22)

Q1 2023

Examination in Public (Regulation 24)

Q2/Q3 2023

Inspector’s Report

Q4 2023

Adoption

Q4 2023

Documents to be replaced
The Local Plan will fully supersede both the Core Strategy (2012) and Kingston Town Centre
Area Action Plan (2008) upon adoption.
Community / Stakeholder Involvement
The Public consultation at the Regulation 18 Commence Consultation and Regulation 19
Local Plan Publication stages will be carried out in accordance with the Council’s Statement
of Community Involvement.
Review
Progress on the delivery of site allocations and the effectiveness of policy will be assessed
and reported through the Council’s Authority Monitoring Report. Issues with delivery or
effectiveness of policy will then be considered to explore if a partial Plan review is needed

South London Waste Plan
Purpose / content
To analyse the current and future demand for, and supply of, waste treatment facilities
across the London Borough of Croydon, the Royal Borough of Kingston, the London
Borough of Merton and the London Borough of Sutton until 2036.
To provide policies against which the Councils will determine planning applications for waste
treatment facilities. To allocate sites for waste treatment (if required) and/or to identify areas
suitable for waste treatment facilities (if required). The document will replace the existing
South London Waste Plan, which was adopted in 2012.
This DPD is subject to agreement between the boroughs
Status:
Development Plan Document
Coverage:
London Borough of Croydon, London Borough of Merton, London Borough of Sutton and the
Royal Borough of Kingston upon Thames

B17

Annex 1
Conformity:
With the National Planning Policy Framework, the Council’s Local Plan and the adopted
London Plan at the time of Submission.
Indicative timetable:
Key Milestones

Date

Evidence Gathering

April 2019

Consultation on Options

October 2019

Consultation on the Proposed Submission Draft

September 2020

Submission to Secretary of State

January 2021

Examination In Public

Q3 2021

Inspector’s Report

Q4 2021

Adoption

Q4 2021

Documents to be replaced
The South London Waste Plan will fully supersede the 2012 South London Waste Plan upon
adoption.
Community / Stakeholder Involvement
Public consultation will be carried out in accordance with the requirements of the Statement
of Community Involvement of the four boroughs.
Review
Progress on the delivery of the plan will be assessed through each borough’s Authority
Monitoring Report.

B18

Annex 2

Statement of Consultation
Local Plan - Early Engagement
(Regulation 18)
February 2021

B19

Contents
1. Introduction

2

2. Statutory Requirements

3

3. Consultation Process

4

What We Consulted On
How We Consulted
Consultee Notification
Public Consultation Events
Response Methods
Consultation Response Rates

4
4
6
6
7
7

4. Other Stakeholder Engagement

8

Call for Sites Exercise
Duty to Cooperate
Member Briefings and Workshops

8
8
8

5. Summary of Main Issues Raised by Respondents
Appendix 1 - List of Consultation Questions

1

9

17

B20

1. Introduction
1.1.

This Statement of Consultation sets out how the Council has carried out a first phase
of engagement with local residents, community groups, businesses and other
organisations and stakeholders in accordance with the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) and the relevant statutory requirements, as part of its Local Plan
review.

1.2.

Specifically, this Statement of Consultation outlines the approach and summarises
the results of the Local Plan early engagement (regulation 18 consultation)
undertaken by the Council between 01 May 2019 and 31 July 2019.

1.3.

The Council will undertake a further Regulation 18 stage consultation on key topic
areas in 2021, partially in response to the first stage of Regulation 18 consultation. A
further Statement of Consultation will be prepared for this consultation. The
Statements of Consultation should therefore be considered in conjunction with each
other. Together, the two Statements of Consultation will help to demonstrate how the
Council has carried out and responded to public consultation in line with the relevant
statutory requirements.

2

B21

2. Statutory requirements
2.1

The preparation of a new Local Plan must comply with the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) and the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012 (“the Regulations”). Regulation 18 outlines the first steps that must
be undertaken in preparing a local plan, including who needs to be notified, and how
a local authority should consider feedback from engagement activities when
preparing a draft Local Plan for submission to the Secretary of State for independent
examination.

2.2

Plan making authorities must also comply with the consultation requirements of the
NPPF (Para 15-16), which requires new local plans to be shaped by early,
proportionate and effective engagement between plan-makers and communities,
local organisations, businesses, infrastructure providers and operators and statutory
consultees.

3

B22

3. Consultation process
What we consulted on
3.1

Kingston - Looking forward together was the primary document published for the
early engagement consultation. This document outlined the long term planning
considerations (up to 2041) for Kingston. The questions posed within this document
formed the basis of the consultation aimed to direct the Local Plan’s vision for the
future of the Borough. These questions covered the following topics:
●

Spatial strategy, including. Green Belt, Metropolitan Open Land and
Opportunity Areas

●

Infrastructure

●

Design, tall buildings and heritage

●

Housing

●

Employment

●

Town centres

●

Transport

3.2

A list of the consultation questions can be found within Appendix 1 of this report.

3.3

Published alongside the primary consultation document was the Site Assessments
document. This document contains details of sites that were submitted to the Council
through the Call for Sites exercise carried out in 2017, together with sites included in
the London-wide Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA), which
was published in 2017. In addition to the questions in Appendix 1, the council also
asked for people’s views on these sites.

How we consulted
3.4

During the consultation the Council undertook a wide range of methods of
communication in order to ensure that notification of the consultation reached as
many people as possible. The target audiences consisted of the following groups:
●

All residents

●

People who work in Kingston

●

Visitors (including shopping, leisure, culture etc)

●

Kingston-based businesses

●

Students and young people

4

B23

3.5

●

Charity, voluntary sector and local groups

●

Site owners and investors

●

Relevant governmental organisations

●

Emergency services and utilities

●

Councillors

●

Council staff

●

Statutory consultees

A full list of all engagement activities is set out below.
Engagement activity

Date(s)

Emails sent to statutory consultees and those on the
planning team's local plan distribution list informing them of
the consultation and how to respond.

01/05/2019

Printed copies of the full consultation document, including a
shorter version of the survey, and the Site Assessments
document made available in all 7 libraries throughout the
borough, at the Information and Advice Centre at Guildhall
2 and at all the drop in events. Branded post boxes were
placed in libraries and at the Guildhall to help raise
awareness and help signpost where completed copies
should be submitted.

01/05/2019

JCDecaux printed billboards across the borough and digital
boards in Kingston town centre.

01/05/2019 31/07/2019

Local Plan ads playing on digital screens (internally and
public-facing) across Guildhall

01/05/2019 31/07/2019

Social media (Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, LinkedIn) organic and paid-for social media campaigns.

01/05/2019 31/07/2019

The Local Plan consultation document was available on
the Local Plan section of the Council's website
(www.kingston.gov.uk/new-local-plan) as well as the
Council’s online engagement portal
(kingstonletstalk.co.uk/local-plan)

01/05/2019

The council’s online engagement portal had a Local Plan
section, with the online survey, an interactive map of the
borough where people could pin development opportunities
and information about all of the events and how to join them
kingstonletstalk.co.uk/local-plan

01/05/2019 31/07/2019

5

B24

Adverts in the following community magazines:
● Berrylands Companion
● Chessington Chat
● The Good Life
● Borough Business Magazine (Chamber of
Commerce)
● Elmbridge and Kingston magazine

01/05/2019 31/07/2019

Posters on community noticeboards, including on-street
boards and in libraries

02/05/2019 31/07/2019

Article in internal newsletter for council staff to raise
awareness of consultation, to ask officers to share
information with contacts and to encourage them to take
part.

02/05/2019

Information shared with voluntary, community and worship
groups to increase reach of consultation

02/05/2019

Press release issued to local and trade media

02/05/2019

News item on the carousel on the council’s homepage
linking to New Local Plan webpage on the council website

02/05/2019 31/07/2019

Bespoke 30 second advert played across key drive times
on Radio Jackie for a 3 week period.

17/05/2019 07/06/2019

Half page promotion in the Surrey Comet

23/05/2019

Planning notices published in 3 editions of the Surrey
Comet

06/06/2019
13/06/2019
20/06/2019

Email for headteachers and school resources packs issued
to help engage children on planning for Kingston’s future
and shared using Achieving for Children’s networks

06/06/2019

Easy read version of the consultation shared with local
disability groups

07/06/2019

Adverts on the back of 30 local buses for a 6 week period.

10/06/2019 22/07/2019

Reminder article issued in council’s newsletter to staff to
take part in consultation and share with networks

27/06/2019

Leaflet distributed to every house and business in the
borough to promote the consultation as well as inviting
everyone to the events

27/06/2019 29/06/2019

6

B25

3.6

The Council also commissioned Mobilise Public to engage with the public through
face-to-face interviews, street focus groups and workshops.

3.7

The council worked with KCIL on the accessibility and design of the consultation
document and creation of a plain text version.

Consultee notification
3.8

All those on the Strategic Planning database, were informed of the consultation by
email, advising on details of the online survey and upcoming drop in events. The
database includes contact details of all relevant stakeholders and government
agencies, as well as community groups and residents who had opted-in to be notified
of consultation activities relating to the Local Plan. The ‘specific’, ‘general’, and
‘relevant’ consultation bodies, as defined by the Regulations.

Public consultation events
3.9

The Council organised a series of workshops for the public to attend. These events
were focused on a specific topic area relevant to the Local Plan or were targeted
towards a particular demographic. Attendees of these events had the opportunity to
discuss and provide feedback on the consultation questions with Officers, Councillors
and Mobilise Public consultants. Details of these events are set out in the tables
below.

Themed events

Date

Jobs, businesses and the role of town 8 July
centres

Time

Venue

7 - 9pm

Kingston Quaker Centre

Design, heritage and sustainability

10 July 7 - 9pm

Malden Golf Club

Housing, including type, quality and
affordability

22 July 7 - 9pm

cornerHOUSE

Infrastructure, including community
facilities, transport and open space

25 July 7 - 9pm

Chessington School

Targeted events

Date

Time

Venue

Housing association or council
housing tenants

1 July

7 - 9pm

Kingston Library

25 and under

4 July

7 - 9pm

Canbury Pavilion

65 and over

23 July 2 - 4pm

The Bradbury

Those with a disability or special
educational need

25 July 2 - 4pm

Richard Mayo

7

B26

The Local Plan consultation was also promoted at the KVA Health and Wellbeing Network
meeting, Access and Mobility Committee, Kingston Chamber of Commerce’s Business
Expo, a workshop at Kingston College and an assembly at Southborough High School.

Response methods
3.10

All stakeholders were encouraged to respond to the consultation via an online survey
on the Council’s engagement portal. The full list of survey questions are set out in
Appendix 1 of this report.

3.11

Respondents were also able to email their response to the Local Plan email address
(localplan@kingston.gov.uk) or sent their response by post to the Council offices.

Consultation response rates
3.12

In total the Council received 1,524 responses leaving over 4,300 comments to the set
consultation questions. 650 of these responses were submitted in writing, 350 were
from events attendees and 518 were from street surveys.

8

B27

4. Other stakeholder engagement
4.1

In addition to the Early Engagement, the Council has undertaken a process of
constructive, active and on-going engagement with elected members, neighbouring
councils, community groups and relevant agencies. A summary of these activities is
summarised below.

Call for sites exercise
4.2

The Council ran a Call for Sites between 4 September 2017 and 29 December 2017.
Providing opportunities for individuals, developers, landowners, agents and other
interested parties to submit details of sites within the Borough that may be available
for redevelopment over the plan period.

4.3

The Council also participated in the London-wide SHLAA in 2016/17. The purpose of
this consultation was to assist the GLA in the preparation of its technical evidence
base to inform the new London Plan. These sites will also be considered for the new
Local Plan.

Duty to cooperate
4.4

Council officers have continued to engage with South West London and neighbouring
Surrey local authorities to provide a forum to discuss planning issues affecting the
sub-region. Detailed information will be provided in a future Duty to Cooperate
Statement for the Regulation 19 consultation.

Elected member briefings and workshops
4.5

Various elected member briefings took place, including reports and presentations at
the following Neighborhood Committee meetings:
●

Kingston Town - 4th June 2019

●

Maldens and Coombe - 11th June 2019

●

Surbiton - 11th June 2019

●

South of the Borough - 4th June 2019

9

B28

5. Summary of main issues raised by respondents
5.1

The following table sets out a summary of the main issues and comments raised by
respondents. This list is not exhaustive but it does provide a steer key matters that
respondents consider need to be addressed in the preparation of the new Local Plan.

5.2

The Council will provide responses to the issues and comments raised in the Early
Engagement consultation following a subsequent Regulation 18 consultation - the
Further Engagement on the Local Plan - in a comprehensive Statement of
Consultation that will cover both consultations.

Table 6.1: Summary of main issues raised by respondents
Topic area

Main issues raised

Spatial Strategy Green Belt and MOL
● The majority of consultees object to development on Green Belt
land and Metropolitan Open Land (MOL) and want it protected.
A few consultees support development on Green Belt land and
MOL.
● The Local Plan should recognise the strategic roles and
functions of designated Green Belt land and MOL in Greater
London. Green Belt land and MOL should not be built on.
● More land should be designated as MOL.
Opportunity Area
● The Opportunity Area boundaries should be clearly defined and
should not overlap Green Belt and MOL. The lower part of
Coombe Golf Course is MOL and should not be in an
Opportunity Area.
● Using an 800m radius around stations is too blunt for defining
Opportunity Area boundaries as it takes no account of the
existing context.
● There is no reason given as to why Surbiton is not part of an
Opportunity Area.
● Opportunity Areas will lead to overdevelopment and more
traffic. There isn’t sufficient infrastructure to support them.
Development Strategy and Growth Scenario
● The majority of consultees preferred Widespread Growth
(Scenario 1) and that development should only be in areas that
have already been cleared or empty for a long time
● The Local Plan should promote the effective use of land, in a
way that makes as much use as possible previously developed
land. The allocation of previously developed land for

10

B29

●

Development
Needs

development should be prioritised over the release of greenfield
sites.
Development growth should be directed to locations that are
supported by a range of local amenities, accessible by public
transports and supported by local walking and cycling networks.

Housing Need
● Many consultees recognise the shortfall in the supply of homes
needed and give their support for more housing. Additional sites
should be identified to meet the housing target.
● Concerns were raised about the ability to meet the housing
target set in the new London Plan across the plan period.
● Increase the number of new homes by optimising and
intensifying available brownfield land, and remove existing poor
quality and underutilized buildings.
● Need to ensure that the housing needs of local people currently
living in the area are met.
Affordable Housing
● Increase the number of affordable homes through regenerating
the Council’s portfolio. Social rented homes preferred over
other types of affordable homes because they are more
affordable.
● A range of different types of affordable housing tenures should
be provided.
● Applications that don’t meet the minimum 35% affordable
housing threshold should be refused, regardless of viability.
Fewer higher-end homes should be provided so that more
affordable housing can be delivered.
● Consideration should be given to developing affordable homes
on golf courses, derelict sites, small sites and infilling on
existing housing estates.
Housing Design and Housing Size Mix
● New housing should exceed building control and environmental
standards.
● A flexible approach should be taken to housing size mix in
developments.
Housing for Older People
● Identify and allocate sites for building homes for older people.
● Encourage inclusion of housing for older people as part of
larger developments both for sale or rent.
● Provide multi-generational housing for family groups and
mitigate the isolation felt by older people.
Student Accommodation

11

B30

●

There was a general objection to the development of more
purpose-built student accommodation. Any new developments
should ensure that accommodation only goes to students from
a defined list of universities.

Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding
● In the context of high land value, make the planning process
simpler and even waive planning fees for people on the
Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Register appl.
Gypsies and Travellers
● Carry out a needs assessment and identify capacity to meet
their needs over the plan period.
Providing a Range of Workspace Types
● Encourage office floorspace as part of mixed-use development
around stations.
● Promote small and affordable serviced workspace to meet the
needs of start-up business and self-employed people.
● Encourage the provision of significant new employment
floorspace for Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in town
centres, designated employment areas and areas with good
levels of public transport accessibility.
● Promote co-working spaces with a mix of retail, office,
workshop, leisure and business incubators. Provision of more
live-work space and serviced apartments should be considered
to meet a range of business and employees’ needs.
Employment Land
● Designated and non-designated employment land should be
protected.
● A flexible approach to different uses should be considered to
respond to meet rapidly evolving market demand.
Town Centres
and Visitor
Attractions

Attractiveness and Environment of Town Centres
● Town centres should be made more attractive by removing
traffic where possible and enhancing the environment and by
providing high quality public realm and creating spaces for
public art and entertainment.
● Provide unique attractions and acknowledge the Borough’s rich
history.
● Preserve Kingston Town Centre’s rich history and character.
Encourage traditional market traders and better use of the
Market House.
● A diverse range of local shops and small businesses should be
prioritised over national chains.

12

B31

●

District and Local Centres require their own local identity and
unique selling points. Tolworth District Centre would particularly
benefit from being revitalised.

Support for Town Centres
● Strengthen Kingston Town Centre by providing high-quality
public realm and high quality, high density housing.
● Ensure that Kingston Town Centre’s offer is diversified,
including promoting an evening and night time economy.
● Support and enhance local centres and shopping parades.
● Enhance sustainable transport access to town centres and
visitor attractions and improve parking facilities.
● High streets are facing ever increasing pressure from the
continuing growth of online retailing and purchase of services
traditionally provided by high streets. The changing face of retail
should be recognised by allowing a greater flexibility of uses
and utilising empty shops to provide work units, restaurants and
attractions.
● Reduce business costs and overheads, particularly for smaller
businesses.
Outside of Town Centres
● Out of town-centre retail sites should be considered for
redevelopment for housing
Transport

Transport Network
● The existing public transport network is overcrowded and in
need of improvement.
● Road infrastructure improvements should be sought to alleviate
traffic congestion and improve the operation of key roads.
● The Council should work with TfL and other partners to deliver
better integration between land uses and transport, and to
provide the justification needed for investment. There should
be planning to improve transport capacity prior to the delivery of
Crossrail 2.
● Crossrail 2 is supported however intensification should not rely
on its delivery.
Sustainable Transport
● New homes and jobs should be focused in well-connected
areas.
● Promote sustainable, accessible transport and environmental
improvements over private car use
● Peak hour school traffic is a particular problem requiring action
● The plan should support the ‘Healthy Streets’ approach, and the
overarching aim of enabling more people to travel by walking,
cycling and public transport, rather than by car.
● The plan should secure sufficient quantities of high quality cycle

13

B32

parking spaces, and restrict the creation of car parking spaces
from new developments (in line with London Plan
recommendations). The design and construction of new cycle
lanes should take into account the needs and safety of all road
users, and their provision should not result in the loss of bus
lanes.
Car Parking and Servicing
● Parking management/provision - a range of opinions/options
are identified (some people want to restrict car use while others
want to facilitate its easier use)
● There should be adequate levels of car parking spaces at town
centres to cater for the needs of customers and businesses,
including for delivery vehicles; and enforce parking controls in
centre locations and on narrow roads.
● Development should be designed and constructed with
appropriate servicing and delivery capacity in mind
Infrastructure

Infrastructure Planning
● Concerns with the capacity of infrastructure to accommodate
additional growth; developments in recent years have already
put pressure on existing services and facilities.
● Assessments should be undertaken to identify capacity of
infrastructure, and where demand will likely to be acute over the
plan period. New developments should contribute towards the
funding and delivery of local services and infrastructure.
● The timing of upgrades and improvements to infrastructure
should correspond to local demand. New developments should
not be approved until the required infrastructure to support
growth has been put in place.
Social Infrastructure
● The council should work with providers to ensure infrastructure
requirements and their delivery arrangements are considered
early on in the planning process. Local residents should also
be part of the process to help identify relevant issues, and local
priorities for delivery.
● The plan should make sufficient provision for infrastructure that
supports families and vulnerable groups, including health and
care facilities, mental health support, children’s school places
and SEN provisions.
Green Infrastructure
● The plan should protect and enhance areas of biodiversity
value, and secure biodiversity net gains from developments.
There are concerns with the decline in wildlife in the borough.
● The benefits from green spaces and open spaces should be
recognised, including their contribution towards the health and

14

B33

●

●

●

●

wellbeing of local people, in supporting environmental functions
and adaptations to climate change.
Public open spaces, public parks and recreational grounds
should be protected from developments. Community gardens
and allotments should also be safeguarded for local people.
Opportunities for enhancing green infrastructure should be
considered at the earliest stage of development. The creation
of new green open spaces should be encouraged alongside
developments. Public access to open spaces and nature
should be improved, especially in areas of deficiency.
There are concerns with the loss of residential gardens through
developments, which provides important green spaces for
residents and refuge for biodiversity in urban areas.
There should be adequate protection for the borough’s trees, in
particular for mature trees. Local people should be consulted
on proposals that would lead to their loss.

Hogsmill River
● Hogsmill River provides some of the most valuable green and
blue spaces in the borough. There should be no discharge of
surface water into Hogsmill River (surface water will likely be
contaminated from urban activities, posing a risk in polluting the
watercourse).
● There is support for the inclusion of a buffer zone between the
river and any proposed development (South East River Trust
suggests the inclusion of a 100m buffer, and strongly opposes
any development that relies on off-mains drainage in the area).
● The discharge of sewage into Hogsmill River is a major
problem, it is essential that Thames Water is consulted on
developments in the area to ensure there will be sufficient
capacity in the local sewage treatment networks.
Sustainable Infrastructure
● The plan should be resilient to the impacts of climate change.
Opportunities to deliver renewable energy, district heating
networks, and electric vehicle infrastructure should be explored
by the plan; these should be better integrated to achieve
multiple objectives and benefits.
● The plan should promote the use of SuDS, and permeable
surface materials; and the maintenance of these assets. It is
increasingly difficult to manage surface water runoffs, and to
provide above ground mitigations in some build-up areas of the
borough, including in Kingston town.
● Developments and vulnerable uses should be prevented in
areas of high flood risk, and be resilient to the effects of climate
change. New developments should aim to be carbon neutral,
and BREEAM standards should be enforced.

15

B34

●

Design and
Heritage

The plan should support the aims set out in national and local
digital strategies, to encourage innovation in the sector and
support the delivery of a wide range of digital infrastructure in
the area.

Local Character, Tall Buildings and Important Views
● Development density should include consideration to existing
local character; through design-led approaches.
● Policies should provide clarity on what constitutes a tall building
and set out locations where tall buildings will be appropriate and
positively consider mixing of uses.
● In parts of the borough, including town centres and Opportunity
Areas, tall buildings will be required to deliver a substantial uplift
in the number of homes and should be supported if they are
well-designed, sensibly located and guided by local character
studies and townscape assessments.
● Concerns have been raised on the impact of tall buildings in the
South of the Borough on local views, openness, local character
and historic environment.
Design
● Design-led approaches are key to increasing density in
sensitive locations and should be widely encouraged.
● Opportunities for increasing density should be investigated on
underutilised sites. Making the best use of underutilised land is
likely to be more consistent with the character of Kingston than
increasing the height of development.
● Optimisation of sites capacity should follow a design-led
approach as good design can in the right circumstances, make
development above the density matrix acceptable.
● The Kingston Design Review Panel should be engaged with at
the earliest possible stage in the development process to
support the design-led approach.
● Street environments should be well maintained and designed to
encourage people to walk and cycle.
Design Codes and Masterplans
● Design codes should be used to set out what is appropriate in
an area and include the heritage and architectural perspective.
They will include guidance to help achieve high environmental
standards and residents should be involved in their preparation.
● Masterplans should illustrate what is expected on larger sites
and help with infrastructure delivery. They should consider open
spaces and green infrastructure delivery with a more welcoming
street environment.
● Design codes and Masterplans should provide flexibility to allow
changes in local circumstances and support schemes of
exceptional quality.

16

B35

Heritage
● Developments should have a positive impact on the existing
local character in areas of historic importance.
Development
Sites

General Comments
● There are concerns that new developments would result in the
loss of green and open spaces (including Metropolitan Open
Lands, Green Belt lands, public parks, playing fields and
allotments) and social infrastructure facilities. Green and open
spaces and social infrastructure facilities should be protected
from inappropriate development.
● Concerns on the continuing decline of commercial and retail
activities in our high streets and town centres, and the loss of
office spaces (employment land) to housing developments.
● The Council should work with relevant landowners and
infrastructure providers to identify the land required for
infrastructure and safeguard the land required for infrastructure
over the plan period.
● Concerns over the availability of land supply to meet the Draft
London Plan housing targets; and the potential requirement to
consider Green Belt release in the plan.
Design Related Comments
● High density developments should be directed to areas in and
around town centres and rail stations, which can help make the
most of available land in accessible and sustainable locations,
and support the regeneration of low performing centres.
● New developments should follow a design-led approach when
optimising site capacity. While the density matrix provides a
useful starting point for assessing capacity, it should not be
applied mechanistically, as good design can make a
development above the density range acceptable.
● Site specific masterplans should be used to set out what would
be expected on larger sites, including opportunities to provide
new open spaces, plantings and to create a more welcoming
street environment that encourages people to walk and cycle.
Masterplans should also be used to help coordinate the design
and delivery of sites in multiple ownerships.

17

B36

Appendix 1 - List of Consultation Questions
Q1. Do you have any comments on the Opportunity Area boundary shown?
Q2. What is your vision for the future of the borough of Kingston, including how and where
we should build a significant increase in the number of homes, supported by jobs and
infrastructure?
Q3. If we cannot deliver our housing target in another way, should we consider development
in the Green Belt and/or Metropolitan Open Land (MOL)?
Q4. What do you feel are the key pressures that need to be addressed to make development
acceptable? Please choose up to seven, with 1 being most important and 7 the least
important.
Q5. How can we ensure that the right infrastructure is in place?
Q6. How can we increase densities and the use of land to provide more homes and jobs?
Can you give any examples of where this has been done well, in the borough of Kingston or
in other locations?
Q7. Is there a role for tall buildings in the borough? If so, what locations and heights might
be suitable, and what would be most important in terms of their design or use? If you would
like a different definition of tall buildings for the borough, please also tell us:
Q8. Do you think the council should create design codes and master plans? If so, what
aspects and/or locations should they focus on?
Q9. What is most important for homes across the borough? Please choose up to seven,
starting with 1 being most important and 7 being the least important of those you choose.
Q10. How do you think we could deliver more affordable homes?
Q11. Which type of affordable housing do you think the council should prioritise, and why?
Please tick all that apply:
Q12. What type of housing should the council be seeking for the other 40% of affordable
homes which are not set out by the Mayor of London?
Q13. Are there any types of affordable housing you think the council should not be
encouraging, and why?
Q14. Have you got any suggestions for how we can help meet the housing needs of older
people in the borough?
Q15. What role can the borough play in contributing towards meeting London’s student
accommodation need?
Q16. Have you got any suggestions for how we can help meet the needs of people on the
self-build register?

18

B37

Q17. How can we best provide a range of workspace types to support different sized
businesses in the borough?
Q18. Are there any types of workspace we should be targeting?
Q19. Do you think we should make any changes to the locations protected for employment
or town centres, such as changes to boundaries or deletion of locations? Are there any other
key locations where we should protect employment uses?
Q20. Should we allow a flexible range of land uses in new developments in our town centres
and local centres to make it easier to convert spaces? If so, which types of land uses should
we include in this range of flexible uses?
Q22. Do you think any of the protected areas should support different types of uses, such as
a wider range of commercial activity and businesses or housing?
Q23. Should we also protect specific land uses that provide employment outside of the
protected employment locations? If so, which land uses should we protect?
Q24. Should we do more to protect and encourage visitor accommodation and attractions? If
so, which types should we protect, or encourage, and where?
Q25. How can we make better use of our public spaces and assets to attract visitors?
Q26. What should the focus be to ensure the future success of Kingston town centre?
Q27. Should we promote more activity in our town centres in the evenings or night-time? If
so, how can we do this?
Q28. What should the focus be to ensure the future success of New Malden, Surbiton and
Tolworth?
Q29. Do you have any suggestions for the future of any of our local centres or shopping
parades?
Q30. What are your thoughts on any of these major infrastructure projects? Are there any
other projects we should consider?
Q31. How can we encourage more people to walk, cycle and use public transport?
Q32. What can we do to help reduce the problems of congestion?
Q33. How else can parking controls be used to address transport issues in the borough?
Q34. When planning new developments, what steps can be taken to reduce the number and
impact of trips made by delivery vehicles in the borough?
Q35. How can we improve mobility and accessibility on our streets and transport networks,
particularly for those who are less mobile?
Q36. Is there any new technology we should support (or manage) to give people more
transport options and flexibility for their journeys?
Q37. What are your main priorities that you feel the Local Plan must deal with?
19

B38

Q38. Is there anything else that you feel the Local Plan should include?
Q39. Is there anything else that you would like to tell us?

20

C1
Culture, Housing, Environment and Planning Committee

Appendix C

17 March 2021
Local Implementation Plan - 2021/22 Programme
Sarah Ireland, Executive Director for Corporate and Communities
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Hilary Gander, Portfolio Holder for Environment and
Sustainable Transport
Purpose of Report
To approve the proposed schemes for inclusion in the 2021/22 Local Implementation
Plan (LIP) programme, subject to confirmation from Transport for London (TfL).
Recommendation(s)
The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that:
1. Any comments on Annex 1 from the Neighbourhood Committees be noted as set
out in the report at paragraph 7, and
2. To further note that the Maldens and Coombe Neighbourhood Committee takes
place on 24 March, so any additional comments from that Committee are
considered by the Executive Director of Corporate and Communities in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder.
3. The proposed schemes, as listed in the table in Annex 1 are approved, and
confirmed to TfL as the LIP programme for 2021/22, noting the TfL submission
criteria in paragraph F.
4. Should any adjustments be required to Annex 1, these will be delegated to the
Executive Director of Corporate and Communities in consultation with the Portfolio
Holder.

Benefits to the Community:
The schemes listed in Annex 1 form part of the ongoing LIP delivery programme to
introduce schemes that will make a contribution to improving the transport network of the
borough, which will encourage the shift towards more sustainable and safer transport
thus contributing to the borough’s zero carbon ambition.
Key Points
A.

TfL funding is provided to London boroughs to support local transport improvements
that accord with the latest Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS) goals, as set out in the
Greater London Authority (GLA) Act 1999. The mechanism for delivering those
improvements is through the LIP, which is the borough’s strategic highway policy.

B.

In order to obtain funding, the Council must show how each scheme submitted will
support the MTS goals, and this means that boroughs must demonstrate how
proposals will support the vision to transform London streets, improve public
transport and create more opportunities for new homes and jobs.

C2
TfL wrote to boroughs in May 2020 advising that all work on LIP programmes
should be paused, due to the vast reduction in fare revenues the Coronavirus
pandemic caused, when demand for services decreased. Since that time TfL
successfully agreed two interim funding packages with the Government to cover
costs up until 31 March 2021, known as the Extraordinary Funding and Financing
Agreement.

C.

D.

Given the current financial uncertainties beyond March 2021, certain working
assumptions have been necessary, but boroughs will need to consider uncertainties
both about the quantum of funding in budgets in 2021/22 and the timing of the
confirmation of that funding.

E.

The current Extraordinary Funding and Financing Agreement between DfT/TfL runs
until 31 March 2021. Beyond this point a further settlement is required, and
discussions between DfT/TfL are ongoing and will hopefully conclude before the
new financial year. This means that TfL are currently unable to confirm how much
funding will be provided to boroughs in the next financial year 2021/22.

F.

TfL have advised boroughs to prepare an outline list of proposals spanning all
borough programmes for 2021/2 and submit them to TfL by 1 March 2021. The list
should prioritise proposals up to the value of the borough’s annual allocation based
on what it was due to receive in 2020/21, which is £1,209,300. This is to make it
easier for TfL and boroughs to review the lists, should the LIP settlement be lower
than expected. The guidance acknowledges that the borough submissions may be
subject to change once the list of proposals have been considered through the
strategic committee processes.

G.

The list of schemes at Annex 1 will need to be prioritised and we are currently
working on the criteria for prioritisation but safety will need to be an important
consideration and it is highlighted that the project list includes a combination of
continuation schemes carried over from 2020/21, as well as new schemes.

H.

In view of the financial situation, TfL have yet to confirm allocations to boroughs for
the development of discretionary funded items in 2021/22 under the programmes of
LIP Major Schemes, Liveable Neighbourhoods, Cycleway Network Development
(previously known as Quietways), and Bus Priority. TfL hopes to provide clarity on
this once the financial position is understood.

Context
1.

Within the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS) there are very ambitious targets for
the boroughs to deliver against, and that is due to the expectation that as
London’s population changes, the pattern of future demand pressures on the
transport networks will also change. In particular, an increase in the numbers of
older people – particularly focused in outer London – which will lead to an
increased demand for accessible services. It is not known what the long term
impacts of the current pandemic will be.

2.

TfL have previously advised that travel demand was forecast to increase to 32
million trips on an average day by 2041, which was 5 million more trips than the
starting point of the current LIP. Despite a broad pattern of falling car mode share
across London, car kilometres are expected to rise by around 8%. This reflects
the distribution of trips, with more car travel covering greater distances in outer
London being expected, hence there is a crucial need in Kingston to ensure that
as much of the additional travel demand is met by enabling greater use of public
transport, walking and cycling.

3.

C3
From a borough perspective it is crucial that the LIP programme is aligned with
other key Council policies, and the scheme list will be reviewed and assessed
alongside the emerging Climate Emergency Action Plan. The scheme elements
and physical measures will also be reviewed to ensure that they align with the
borough’s Air Quality Action Plan, specifically around providing infrastructure to
support modal shift, and reduce traffic speeds.

4.

The boroughs play a key role in helping to achieve the outcomes of the MTS.
The annual process of agreeing a programme of work through the various TfL
work streams has not followed the usual processes this financial year, due to the
pandemic, but it is still a key element in delivering the MTS priorities – Vision
Zero (road safety), improving air quality, increasing sustainable mode share and
traffic reduction.

5.

During 2020/21 boroughs successfully delivered a range of schemes to aid social
distancing and promote active travel during the pandemic. The measures were
introduced in extremely challenging circumstances, and further work is now
required to monitor their impacts. The Borough has delivered a range of its own
London Streetspace Plan (LSP) projects it is anticipated that a report that
considers these measures will come to this Committee in mid 2021. However,
this position may change depending on the outcome of the Bishopsgate Ruling
and TfL’s subsequent appeal against that decision in relation to the LSP and
Guidance.

6.

In terms of the Corridors Neighbourhoods and Supporting Measures
programmes, boroughs are strongly encouraged to plan their LIP programme
around strategic outcomes, as set in their LIP3 documents, contributing towards
agreed borough and MTS targets, and these are discussed further in the next
section.

Proposal and Options
7.

The proposals contained in Annex 1 have been circulated to the four
Neighbourhood Committees on the dates below, and any feedback from those
Committees will be either included in this report, if timelines permit, or provided to
members as late material in advance of the meeting. However, it is noted that
the Maldens and Coombe Neighbourhood Committee meeting is on 24 March,
which is after the scheduled date for this meeting and such any feedback or
adjustments required arising from that meeting will be discussed and agreed
between the Executive Director and Portfolio Holder, as set out in the
recommendation.
Kingston Town: 4 March 2021
South of the Borough: 9 March 2021
Surbiton: 11 March 2021
Maldens and Coombe: 24 March 2021.

8.

The LIP programme for 2020/21 was agreed at the Environment and Sustainable
Transport Committee on 11 February 2020; however before any meaningful
progress could be made on the schemes contained in that list, the pandemic
resulted in all TfL workstreams being paused at the beginning of May 2020. As
such, the draft list of schemes for 2021/22 will include a number of schemes that
have been brought forward from the 2020/21 programme.

9.

C4
The ‘Healthy Streets’ approach, which was identified as a key element of the
LIP3 process, remains a central part of the scheme development. It uses 10
Indicators that focus on the experience of people using streets: The two main
indicators are:

● Pedestrians from all walks of life
● People choose to walk, cycle and use public transport.
10.

These are supported by eight indicators pointing to the essential elements
required to support these two main indicators: ● Easy to Cross ● Shade and
Shelter ● Places to stop and rest ● Not too noisy ● People feel safe ● Things to
see and do ● People feel relaxed ● Clean air.

11.

The annual submissions prepared for TfL have identified schemes to cover
specific areas, where it is felt targeted and focused transport improvements can
be delivered across a local area.

12.

This meets the key requirements of the TfL guidance and drive behind the
Healthy Streets agenda, which is to focus on improving the infrastructure across
whole areas, with improvements considered in a ‘strategic manner’ where there
are clear opportunities for improved modal choice towards encouraging people to
make journeys by walking, cycling or because of improved access to public
transport.

13.

As mentioned above, a number of the continuing Healthy Streets projects are
included in the list at Annex 1 - with work on the A243 area looking to focus on
the Tolworth Road and Thornhill Road area, while the North Kingston project will
look to complete a number of measures that had previously been in the middle of
the design process. The A2043 corridor works in New Malden are continued with
a focus on road safety, as collision investigations have identified the section of
the road from the A3 to the Fountain Roundabout as in need of review.

14.

The Boroughwide 20mph scheme is also retained, as work had been completed
on an extensive consultation across the Borough which had been set to be
reported to both neighbourhood and strategic committees in March 2020, before
the pandemic took hold. It is anticipated that reports will be brought back before
committees in mid 2021, with a view to taking the project forward.

15.

A number of schemes are shown as continuation schemes, whereas in reality the
work on them is only really starting in 2021/22, as very little progress could be
made in 2020/21 before the LIP programme was paused in May 2020.

16.

A number of new schemes have been recommended by officers, and a few of
these relate to areas where issues were identified during the pandemic as
requiring investigation of through traffic and HGV issues. Officers have
approached Neighbourhood Committee Chairs/Vice-Chairs (ward members) in
advance of this meeting asking them to consider if there are other areas or
schemes they would like to be included on the list, but it should be noted that the
level of funding is finite, so any new schemes will have to replace ones already
on the list for their neighbourhoods.

Local Transport Fund
17.

In recent years this allocation of £100,000 has been used to support the delivery
of strategic projects, with the Boroughwide 20mph consultation being
undertaken. A further review of this project is currently being carried out using

C5
some of the reinstated LIP funding in 2020/21, as well as an opportunity to
review the Kingston Cycle Network Plan.

18.

TfL are hoping to reinstate these programmes to pre-coronavirus levels and will
confirm the final allocations once a settlement has been agreed.

LIP Major Schemes/Liveable Neighbourhoods
19.

TfL have previously advised the boroughs that previous bids for the areas around
the Old Malden and in North Kingston were not successful. At present there is
no clear guidance on when this funding stream will be re-opened.

Cycleway Network Development (previously known as Quietways)
20.

In terms of the Go Cycle programme, bids will be submitted for the Cambridge
Road/Kingston Road scheme (Kingston to New Malden) which is the final project
in the programme. The Go Cycle network has been designed and delivered to
encourage modal shift away from the car, while also facilitating additional future
connections and extensions to the network. The proposed scheme already has
committee approval, and TfL have indicated they now wish to reactivate the
project to enable delivery in 2021/22, with works already underway on delivery in
2020/21.

21.

It is also important to note that investigation work looking at opportunities to
expand the Borough cycling network is underway, and that an option to continue
this will be through the Local Transport Fund, should that money become
available.

Bus Priority
22.

The focus for bus priority measures in recent years has been investigations on
the section of the A2043 Malden Road/Central Road in a joint scheme with LB
Sutton. Whilst feasibility work has been undertaken, the next steps need the
options to be reviewed and agreed in both LB Sutton and RB Kingston before
any further progress can be made. Subject to TfL’s funding position it is
anticipated that further joint bids will be made to undertake traffic modelling on
the options, once agreed.

Principal Road Maintenance and Structures
23.

The current guidance does not include any information on borough maintenance
programmes for principal road resurfacing and bridge strengthening. TfL have
previously indicated that they will continue to work with boroughs to bid in-year
for their worst locations, and we will continue to press TfL to understand the
programme implications.

Consultations and Engagement
24.

As highlighted above the basis for the scheme list at Annex 1 has been drawn
from the projects that were approved on the LIP programme for 2020/21, and the
four Neighbourhood Committees have provided their comments and suggestions
as set out in paragraph 7 above.

25.

Where schemes are continuation projects there will be existing elements of that
project and, if not already completed, public consultations will be undertaken on
any proposals developed prior to approval and implementation. These will be
developed in conjunction with the Council’s Communications team.

26.

With new schemes an initial informal consultation will be undertaken to establish
the scope and objectives of the scheme prior to any detailed designs being

C6
developed. At this stage there will also be a scheme specific Equalities Impact
Assessment (EqIA) with external stakeholder engagement, so that any
investigations can fully consider any issues that may be highlighted.

Timescale
27.

Members are advised that the TfL Guidance issued on 29 January 2021 required
that boroughs submit the potential LIP Programme by 1 March 2021, and
acknowledged that this would present boroughs with issues around Committee
sign off procedures.

28.

TfL accept that further approvals may be necessary by councils before both the
list and funding is finalised. They have stated that boroughs should prioritise
projects to allow for easier adjustment to the programme, in the event that
funding from DfT is lower than the working assumption.

29.

It is however planned that, based on the current assumptions, work on the
programme of schemes at Annex 1 will commence in April 2021.

Financial Context
30.

The borough’s LIP programme is entirely funded by TfL grants. There are
therefore no direct financial implications. It is highlighted that the level of
anticipated funding for schemes in Annex 1 is in line with TfL Guidance, which is
based on the assumption that the Borough will receive the standard allocation of
£1,209,300 based on the current formula method for calculating the allocations
across London. It is further noted that a funding arrangement for 2021/22
between DfT and TfL has not yet been reached, and there is the potential for the
overall allocation to be reduced.

Resource Implications
31.

TfL have advised the Borough that, although an agreement between the DfT and
TfL has yet to be reached, an allocation in 2021/22 for Corridors,
Neighbourhoods and Supporting Measures of £1,209,600 should be planned for.
TfL have also advised that at present there is no confirmation that the Borough’s
allocation will include the £100,000 Local Transport Fund allocation, but for
completeness it has been included with an explanation of how that funding will be
allocated should the funding be forthcoming. The delivery of the programme has
no impact on the Council’s own revenue budget.

Legal Implications

32.

Under section 159 of the GLA Act 1999, financial assistance provided by TfL
must be for a purpose which, in TfL’s opinion, is conducive to the provision of
safe, integrated, efficient and economic transport facilities or services to, from or
within Greater London.

33.

Where schemes are approved and receive funding all procedures, including
consultation, will be undertaken in accordance with the relevant statutory
provisions and best practice.

Risk Assessment

34.

C7
Scheme risks will be identified and mitigated as part of the project management
process to deliver the LIP Programme, and where issues may arise these will be
managed by the specific project teams

Equalities Analysis
35.

Whilst it is acknowledged that an overarching EqIA was prepared when LIP3 was
created, and as such covers the high level programme contained within this
report, it is highlighted that individual EqIA assessments will be carried out for
each scheme as part of the feasibility design process and before any
consultation process is undertaken.

Health Implications
36.

At this stage there are no specific health implications with the report, however a
key theme of the LIP work programme is in relation to creating and providing
Healthy Streets.

37.

The projects included at Annex 1 seek to either create new infrastructure that will
encourage and support people who wish to walk or cycle more - whether that is
as part of a daily commute, or to spend more time outdoors exercising; or by
improving the local road network and infrastructure within residential areas to
create an environment to allow more walking and cycling.

Road Network Implications
38.

At this stage there are no specific Road Network Implications,

Sustainability Implications
39.

There are no environmental and sustainability implications with the report at this
stage of the LIP, and each scheme will consider the specific environmental
implications during the development phase.

40.

However, given a key theme of LIP3 is associated with offering people the choice
to travel differently and achieving mode-shift, it is anticipated that the schemes
delivered through this programme will help bring about significant environmental
improvements and contribute to the Borough’s target to reduce carbon.

41.

Encouraging people to change their mode of travel should reduce the number of
polluting vehicles on the road network and by extension that will improve local air
quality.

Background papers
held by author
2021/22 LIP ASS Guidance from TfL
Royal Borough of Kingston-upon-Thames LIP3
Author of report - Ian Price - Team Leader, Strategy and Commissioning
ian.price@kingston.gov.uk

LIP Schemes
Scheme

Proposed
funding

Status - Continuation or
New
Description of the project
Area review - delivery of approved footway improvements at Albany Road and Grovesnor
Road; Conversion of zebra to toucan

KT

95 Continuation

Continued investigations into local traffic issues in Tolworth Road and Thornhill Road;
pedestrain accessibility review at 5 arm roundabout area

Surb/SotB

65 Continuation

Road safety investigations, focussing on section between A3 junction and Fountain
Roundabout, and reviewing the corridor

M&C

Completion of 20mph scheme
Birkenhead Road area

80 Continuation
40 New

Delievry of TMO and signage/road markings scheme across section of the borough apporved
at Committee.
Feasibility study to investigate through trqaffic issues and perceived road safety concerns.

borough wide
KT

Coombe Lane West
Cranes Park area/Villiers ave

40 Continuation
44 New

Scheme continued from 20/21 Programme - review of Galsworthy Rd traffic light junction and
implement new footway measures by New Victoria hospital
Area review to assess HGV and through traffic issues

M&C
Surb

Cox Lane/Mount Road area cycle review

35 New

Feasibility - extension of measures from Jubilee Way into residential areas and further links in
to the wider Chessingotn area

SotB

Clayton Road HGV issues
Lingfield Avenue

45 New
45 New

Review of existing traffic arrangements to address HGV intrusion and consider pedestrian
movements
Feasibility work to investigate speeding and high traffic volumes

SotB
KT/Surb

Orchard Road/Hunters Road area
Coombe Road, Kingston
The Groves area

60 Feasibility
50 New
60 New

Feasibility work and scheme consultations to investigate parking, access and safety issues
highlighted through a local petition
Conversion fo zebra crossing to a controlled crossing int eh vicinity of new school
Feasibility work and review of option from Working Group for consultation.

SotB
KT
M&C

Alexandra Drive/Raeburn Avenue area

50 Continuation

Development of shopping parade improvements and investigate ongoing speeding concerns
for Raeburn Avenue

Surb

50 boroughwide
45 boroughwide

Allocation will allow offciers to investigate and identify potential new schemes for future LIP
programmes
Allocation will fund updates for traffic monitoring equipment and speed indicator signs

borough wide
borough wide

Proportion of Corridors Funding which is provide to cover cycle training, behavour change and
travel plannning.

borouigh wide

A243 Healthy Streets Area - Tolworth
Road/Thornhill road area
A2043 Malden Road

Generic allocations
Future scheme development
Equipment and monitoring

Sustainable Transport work streams
Allocation

Local Transport Fund

330
1209

100 Standard

Funding not confirmed but options being considerd are - Assist with the completion of the
Streetspavce project, for TMO review and scheme changes or removals; Support delivery
programme for 20mph project; or further work on enhancing the wider borough cycling network borough wide

C8

75 Continuation

North Kingston Healthy Streets area

D1
Culture, Housing, Environment and Planning Committee

Appendix D

17 March 2021
Planned Highway and Street Lighting Capital Programme 2021/22
Sarah Ireland, Executive Director, Corporate and Communities
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Hillary Gander, Portfolio Holder for
Environment and Sustainable Transport

Purpose
To detail highway (carriageway, footway and street lighting) planned maintenance works
carried out during 2020/21 and present a proposed planned highway and street lighting
maintenance programme for 2021/22.
Recommendation
To resolve that 1. The current status of schemes from the 2020/21 planned highway works as
detailed in Annex 1, be noted
2. Subject to any comments from the Neighbourhood Committees, the prioritised
planned highway and street lighting capital maintenance programme for 2021/22,
as detailed in Annex 2, be approved, with the Executive Director of Corporate and
Communities delegated to deal with any in-year changes that may prove
necessary in consultation with the Portfolio Holder and affected ward members.
3. To further note that the Maldens and Coombe Neighbourhood Committee takes
place on 24 March, so any additional comments from that Committee are
considered by the Executive Director of Corporate and Communities in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder.
Benefits to the Community:
Planned highway and street lighting maintenance programmes are developed to ensure
that the highway network is safe and keeps people and goods moving.

Key Points
A.

Kingston Council’s highway network comprising carriageways, footways and street
lighting is the most visible, well used and valuable physical asset which the Council
is responsible for. Achieving the Council’s strategic outcome of “a sustainable
approach to new homes, development and infrastructure which benefits our
communities, in a well maintained borough”, require continuous investment in the
heavily used highway assets to maintain them in a serviceable condition. The
highway maintenance needs are being reviewed on a continuous basis and
prioritised on a Borough-wide basis. The proposed programme is set out in Annex
2.

B.

The Annual Highway Investment Programme has traditionally been made up of
Council’s capital funding to deliver the planned maintenance programme for

D2
non-principal roads, and funding from Transport for London (TfL) for maintenance of
principal roads, the TfL allocation at this time is nil but there may be an opportunity
later in the year to bid for funds.

C.

The Committee is asked to approve the following:
-

planned footway and carriageway maintenance to the value of £1.5 m;
(indicative value footways £650.000 and carriageways £850.000)
street lighting programme including column replacement and luminaire LED
replacement £1.957m. The indicative split between column and luminaire
replacement is £440,000 on columns and the rest on luminaires.

D.

The 2021/22 budgets and the Medium Term Finance Strategy (MTFS) is due to be
considered at the Finance and Contracts Committee and Partnership Committee.

E.

The allocation for 2020/21 for planned footway and carriageway maintenance was
£2.0m, an increase of £250,000 for that year only, this has led to a decrease in
2021/22 as the money was brought forward to £1.5million. An update on the
progress of 2020/21 Highway & Footway schemes is provided in Annex 1.

Context
1. The funding for the management of highway assets is under continuous scrutiny,
with increasing pressure from government and the public for transparency,
accountability and more efficient use of the limited resources available.
2. It is important to ensure borough roads and street lighting assets remain in good
condition to ensure their longevity. Highway maintenance work is also necessary to
reduce the Council`s exposure, as Highway Authority, of the risk of claims for
personal injury and damage. The need for footway and carriageway maintenance
is identified through a combination of structural assessments, visual inspections
and reporting.
3. Street lighting columns are identified for replacement based on their age and
condition. Street lighting lanterns are identified for LED replacement based on their
current energy usage.
4. Continuous capital investment in highway assets by means of rolling programmes
is vital for ensuring the effective management of the assets. It also ensures that the
reactive maintenance revenue budgets can be properly managed - if capital funding
is reduced, there will be a deterioration in the condition of the assets. Given the
Council’s statutory duty to maintain a safe highway, this would then increase
pressure on revenue budgets as the number of short term reactive ‘fix’ repairs
increases.
5. Kingston’s annual highway investment programme consists of Kingston capital
funding, which is used to fund the planned highway maintenance programme for
local roads, and TfL funding for the most urgent maintenance of the principal
roads.

D3

6. Progress on the delivery of the £2.0m 2020/21 planned highway maintenance
programme is provided in Annex 1.

Proposal and Options
7. The proposed highway maintenance programme for footways, carriageways and
street lighting is presented in Annex 2.
8. The carriageway resurfacing programme has been prioritised according to the
extent of the deterioration and classification of the network, with heavier traffic
levels being a higher priority in order to keep them in a safe condition.
9. The footways identified have been assessed and prioritised where the risk of trips
and falls due to uneven surfaces or broken and rocking slab paving is considered
greatest, and insurance claim data is used to corroborate this. A large part of the
cost is for reconstruction of vehicular crossovers.
10. The replacement of ‘rigid’ artificial stone paving (ASP) slabs with ‘flexible’ bitumen
macadam surfacing (DBM) is recommended where there is considerable evidence
of tree root damage and/or continuous footway overrun, which results in ASP slab
damage, trips and safety hazards. To retain ASP at these locations may require the
new paving to be reinforced by laying the new slabs on concrete or installing
bollards to minimise the risk of further damage. DBM surfaces are generally
preferred by mobility impaired people using wheelchairs or mobility vehicles due to
a better ride quality. It should also be noted that lifetime maintenance costs for
DBM are approximately 20% less than ASP, as there is a reduction in the frequency
of necessary repairs due to their flexible construction.
11. The street lighting column replacement programme in Annex 2 is based on the age
of street lighting columns.
12. All street lighting columns automatically now receive LED luminaires as they are the
most energy efficient. The Council is committed to addressing our climate
emergency response to deliver 100% conversion of lighting units to LED lighting
over the next 2 years, and a comprehensive programme is being developed with
our new street lighting contractor to deliver this.
13. The approved programme will be reviewed during the year to allow for any
unexpected changes and to ensure that it can be delivered within budget.

Consultations
14. As requested through the Neighbourhood Chairs’ Forum, the planned maintenance
footway and carriageway list has been submitted to the four Neighbourhood
Committee Meetings as an information item and any comments will be reported at

D4
the meeting. Because the Maldens and Coombe Neighbourhood Committee takes
place on 24 March, any additional comments from that Committee are
recommended to be considered by the Executive Director of Corporate and
Communities in consultation with the Portfolio Holder.

15. Letter drops to all affected residents/businesses will be carried out by the Council
Contractor 10 working days in advance of the works commencing, advising them of
the arrangements and timescales. Copies are also sent to ward councillors.
Customer satisfaction surveys will be undertaken by our Contractor following
completion of the works for quality assurance purposes. The results will be used to
identify and implement any service improvements.
16. Prior to footway schemes commencing, residents will be given the opportunity to
apply for a new vehicle crossover or extend an existing one, and these works will be
undertaken during the footway improvement scheme. This approach has proved
beneficial in the past to all parties and is critical to ensure the integrity of the new
footway is protected and avoids vehicles crossing the footway without a crossover
to access properties.
Timescale
17. Work will be scheduled to commence as early in the new financial year as possible.
The actual timing of scheme works will be determined and coordinated with other
activities, such as statutory undertakers’ planned works, school holidays and other
relevant events as part of the Council’s network management duties.
18. Prolonged periods of very wet, cold or hot weather can have a significant influence
on the work programme and priorities. Additionally, emergency works by statutory
undertakers may result in some schemes being delayed to a later year. In this
event, it is proposed that the next road(s) on the prioritised list would be brought
forward for implementation.
Financial Context
19. Everything the council does needs to be seen in the context of an increasingly
challenging financial environment. Kingston is not alone in its challenges, one in
three of all councils fearing they will run out of funding to carry out their legal duties
by 2022/23.
20. However, this position is particularly stark in Kingston. The demand for services is
increasing while the funds available to meet these needs continues to fall. In 2010
the council received £66m in government grant - by 2018 that had been cut to zero.
This means that it is a continual challenge to find adequate funds to meet needs.
21. Despite these challenges the council has a drive and commitment to ensure it is
doing the best for residents and communities.
Resource Implications

D5
22. Proposed footway, carriageway and street lighting renewal work will be funded
through the rolling capital funding programmes. The carriageway and footway work
will be undertaken through the Council’s term maintenance contractor for this type
of work, F M Conway; and the street lighting through our street lighting contractor,
Volker Highways.

Legal Implications
23. The Council is the Highway Authority for its administrative area and has a duty
under Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 (the 1980 Act) to maintain the highways
for which they are responsible.
24. If a person believes he/she has suffered damage as a result of a failure to maintain
the highway, the Highways Authority has a defence under Section 58 of the 1980
Act if it proves that it “had taken such care as in all the circumstances was
reasonably required to secure that part of the highway to which the action relates
was not dangerous for traffic”.
25. In order to avoid the risk of damage and resultant claims the Council must continue
to maintain the highways for which it is responsible to ensure they remain
reasonably safe and are not dangerous for traffic or pedestrians.
26. With regards to the provision of lighting on the highway as Highway Authority the
Authority has discretionary power under Section 97 of the 1980 Act to provide street
lighting on roads for which it is responsible. However in exercising its powers as to
the extent, nature, maintenance and operation of street lighting the Highway
Authority must act reasonably and in the interests of road safety.
27. Consideration should be given to the implications of Section 17 of the Crime and

Disorder Act 1998 (as amended by the Police and Justice Act 2006) and the
potential impact on lower light levels on crime and disorder.
Risk Assessment
28. The Shared Risk Register for the highway and street lighting contracts will be
reviewed at regular contract management meetings.
Equalities Analysis
29. Highway maintenance schemes are designed to provide safe usage for all types of
road users, including those with mobility difficulties and visual impairments.
Sustainability Implications
30. Improved carriageway condition smoothers traffic flow and provides better riding
quality for cyclists. Footway resurfacing improves conditions for pedestrians and
encourages walking. LED replacement is more energy efficient and extends asset
longevity.

D6
Author of report - Roger Archer-Reeves, Interim Highway Contracts & Delivery Team
Leader, roger.archer-reeves@kingston.gov.uk

Background papers - None

D7

Annex 1
Current status of the 2020/21 planned highway maintenance programmeCarriageway schemes.
Road Name
Gloucester Road
Victoria Road
Albert Road
Fairfield Road
Maple Road
Lime Grove
South Lane
Barnsbury Lane
Vincent Avenue
Latchmere Lane
Westbury Road
Woodbines Avenue
Fullers Way South
Douglas Road
Porchester Road
Cox Lane
Surbiton Hill Park N
Victoria Avenue
Manor Drive North
Coombe Road
St James’s Road

Location
Coombe Road to Kenley
Road
Whole Road
Hawkes Rd to Victoria Rd
Whole Road
Catherine Road to
Brighton Road
Coombe Road to Elm
Road
Selwyn Road to Nelson
Road
Vincent Avenue to Donald
Woods Gardens
Barnsbury Road to
Tolworth Rise South
Whole Road
Whole Road
Whole Road
Whole Road
Whole Road
Douglas Road to
Gloucester Road K
Jubilee Way to Davis
Road
No19 to No97
Brighton Road to
Endsleigh Gd S
Whole Road
Cambridge Avenue to
Acacia Grove
Whole Road

Neighbourhood

Status

Maldens and Coombe

Complete
Complete
Complete
Complete

Kingston Town
Kingston Town
Kingston Town
Kingston Town /
Surbiton
Maldens and Coombe

Complete

Maldens and Coombe

Complete
Complete March
2021

Surbiton

Complete

Surbiton
Kingston Town
Maldens and Coombe
Kingston Town
South of the Borough
Kingston Town

Complete
Complete
Complete
Complete
Localised patching
21/22
Complete

Kingston Town

Complete

South of the Borough
Surbiton

Complete
Complete

Surbiton
Maldens and Coombe

Complete
Complete

Maldens and Coombe
Surbiton

Complete
Complete

D8
Current status of the 2020/21 planned highway maintenance programme- Footway
schemes.
Road Name

Neighbourhood

Status

Hillbrow
Southborough Close
Lawrence Avenue
Douglas Road
Egmont Road
Angus Close
Addison Gardens
Albemarle Gardens
Grayham Road

Maldens and Coombe
Surbiton
Maldens and Coombe
Kingston Town
Surbiton
South of the Borough
Surbiton
Maldens and Coombe
Maldens and Coombe

Complete
Complete
Complete
Complete
Complete
Complete
Complete
Complete
Localised patching 21/22

Lighting Column Replacement Scheme 20/21 - Completed Roads

Road

Area

Town

Ward

Adams Close

Surbiton

Surbiton

Berrylands

Avenue South

Surbiton

Surbiton

Berrylands

Berrylands

Surbiton

Surbiton

Berrylands

Cadogan Road

Kingston Town

Surbiton

Grove

Catherine Road

Kingston Town

Kingston

Grove

Chiltern Drive

Surbiton

Surbiton

Berrylands

Christ Church Road

Kingston Town

Kingston

Tudor

Cleaveland Road

Surbiton

Surbiton

St Marks

Cottage Grove

Surbiton

Surbiton

St Marks

Courtlands Road

Surbiton

Surbiton

Berrylands

Dolphin Close

Surbiton

Surbiton

St Marks

Grove Road

Kingston Town

Surbiton

Grove

Kings Drive

Surbiton

Surbiton

Berrylands

Manor Crescent

Surbiton

Surbiton

Berrylands

Manor Drive

Surbiton

Surbiton

Berrylands

North Road

Surbiton

Surbiton

St Marks

D9
Lighting Column Replacement Scheme 20/21 - Completed Roads (continued).

Road

Area

Town

Ward

Pine Gardens

Surbiton

Surbiton

Berrylands

Queens Drive

Surbiton

Surbiton

Berrylands

St Andrews Square

Surbiton

Surbiton

St Marks

St James Road

Surbiton

Surbiton

St Marks

St Leonards Road

Kingston Town

Surbiton

Grove

St Marys Road

Surbiton

Surbiton

St Marks

The Avenue

Surbiton

Surbiton

Berrylands

The Mall

Surbiton

Surbiton

St Marks

Westfield Road

Surbiton

Surbiton

St Marks

D10

Annex 2

Prioritised planned highway maintenance programme for 2021/22- Carriageway
schemes.
Neighbourhood

Road name

Location

Gibbon Road

Burton Road to Acre Road

Cross Road

Whole Road

Kingston Town

Norbiton Avenue
Dickerage Lane

Neville Road to Gloucester
Road
Kingston Road to Rail Bridge

Kingston Town
Kingston Town

Howard Road
Mount Pleasant
Road

Whole Road

Maldens and Coombe

Elm Road

Chestnut Grove to Railroad

Maldens and Coombe

Parklands

Whole Road

Surbiton

No 66 to No 92

Kingston Town

Maldens and Coombe

King Charles Road Hollyfield Road to Berrylands Surbiton
Dennan Road to Thornhill
Douglas Road
Road
Surbiton
Glenbuck Road
Thornhill Road

Oak Hill Grove to South Bank Surbiton
Malvern Road to Douglas
South of the Borough / Surbiton
Road

Mount Road

Moor Lane to Chantry Road

South of the Borough

Prioritised planned highway maintenance programme for 2021/22- Footway schemes
Road Name

Neighbourhood

Pine Gardens

Surbiton

Knightwood Crescent*

Maldens and Coombe

The Cut - Elm Road
footpath

Maldens and Coombe

Rollesby Road

South of the Borough

Proposed treatment
Localised patching Reconstruct DBM
Footway and concrete crossovers
ASP to DBM footway, reconstruct concrete
crossovers
(Between Elm Road and Kingston Road)
Reconstruct DBM Footway
ASP to DBM footway, reconstruct concrete
crossovers

ASP means artificial stone paving
DBM means dense bitumen macadam surface
*Work will be carried out in 2021/2022 and 2022/2023

D11

Lighting Column Replacement Programme 2021/22

Road

Area

Town

Ward

ARLINGTON ROAD
BEACONSFIELD ROAD
BIRCHINGTON ROAD
BROOMFIELD ROAD
CAMELLIA LANE
DERBY ROAD
ELGAR AVENUE
ENDWAY
FIR GROVE
GORDON ROAD
HOGSMILL WALK PATH
NORTHCOTE AVENUE
PARKLANDS
PEMBROKE AVENUE
PINE WALK
RAEBURN AVENUE (part)
REGENT ROAD
ROSE WALK
RUSTON AVENUE
SANDHURST AVENUE
SAXON CLOSE
SEYMOUR GARDENS
SOUTH BANK
SOUTH TERRACE
SOUTHCOTE AVENUE
SURBITON HILL ROAD
THE BYEWAYS
THE CREST
THE RIDGE
THE RIDINGS
THE ROYSTONS

Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Malden & Coombes
Surbiton
Kingston
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton

Surbiton
Tolworth
Tolworth
Tolworth
Surbiton
Tolworth
Surbiton
Surbiton
New Malden
Tolworth
Kingston
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Tolworth
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton
Surbiton

Surbiton Hill
Berrylands
Berrylands
Surbiton Hill
Berrylands
Surbiton Hill
Alexandra
Alexandra
St James
Berrylands
Grove
Alexandra
Berrylands
Berrylands
Berrylands
Alexandra
Berrylands
Berrylands
Alexandra
Alexandra
Surbiton Hill
Berrylands
Berrylands
Berrylands
Alexandra
St Marks
Berrylands
Berrylands
Berrylands
Berrylands
Alexandra

*All column replacements will be LED.

